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PART | - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(unaudited)

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(millions, except per share anmounts) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Product and equipment sales $3,173.1 $3,104.8 $6,159.6 $5,981.1
Service and lease sales 812.7 747.3 1,578.1 1,442.6
Net sales 3,985.8 3,852.1 7,731.7 74237
Product and equiprrent cost of sales 1,770.6 1,895.3 3,449.8 3,693.6
Service and lease cost of sales 470.4 439.5 919.3 846.4
Cost of sales (including special charges (a)) 2,241.0 2,334.8 4,369.1 4,540.0
Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,075.7 1,011.6 21534 2,001.9
Special (gains) and charges 12.2 21.0 40.4 455
Operating income 656.9 484.7 1,174.8 836.3
Other (incomme) expense (12.6) (14.4) (25.2) (27.5)
Interest expense, net 78.8 77.8 150.4 152.0
Incorme before incorme taxes 590.7 421.3 1,049.6 7118
Provision for income taxes 95.7 86.6 138.0 139.0
Net income including noncontrolling interest 495.0 334.7 911.6 572.8
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 41 5.0 8.6 9.7
Net incore attributable to Ecolab $490.9 $329.7 $903.0 $563.1
Earnings attributable to Ecolab per conrmon share
Basic $1.72 $1.16 $3.17 $1.98
Diuted $1.71 $1.15 $3.14 $1.97
Weighted-average conmron shares outstanding
Basic 284.6 284.9 285.2 284.8
Diuted 287.0 286.3 2874 286.1

(a) Costof sales includes special (gains) and charges of $0.7 and $8.1 in the second quarter of 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $2.3 and
$11.3 in the first six months of 2024 and 2023, respectively, w hich is recorded in product and equipment cost of sales and service and

lease cost of sales.

The acconpanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(unaudited)

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(rrillions) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Net income including noncontrolling interest $495.0 $334.7 | $911.6 $572.8
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustrrents
Foreign currency translation (24.6) 3.0 (71.2) 141
Gain (loss) on net investrrent hedges 3.3 (23.8) 12.2 (40.5)
Total foreign currency translation adjustrrents (21.3) (20.8) (59.0) (26.4)
Derivatives and hedging instrurrents 22 (1.5) 73 (6.2)
Pension and postretirement benefits (0.1) (4.3 22 4.1)
Subtotal (19.2) (26.6) (49.5) (36.7)
Total cormprehensive income, including noncontrolling interest 475.8 308.1 862.1 536.1
Conprehensive incone attributable to noncontrolling interest 3.1 3.0 8.1 8.2
Conprehensive incomre attributable to Ecolab $472.7 $305.1 | $854.0 $527.9

The acconpanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statemments.




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(unaudited)

June 30 Decerrber 31
(nrllions, except per share anmounts) 2024 2023
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $384.0 $919.5
Accounts receivable, net 2,876.3 2,834.2
Inventories 1,505.9 1,497.2
Assets held for sale 565.6 -
Other current assets 420.5 393.2
Total current assets 5,752.3 5,644.1
Property, plant and equiprent, net 3,416.9 3,474.6
Goodwill 7,821.9 8,148.2
Other intangible assets, net 3,334.0 3,493.5
Operating lease assets 573.0 553.5
Other assets 563.7 532.7
Total assets $21,461.8 $21,846.6
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-termdebt $5.9 $630.4
Accounts payable 1,690.7 1,566.3
Conpensation and benefits 540.5 655.5
Income taxes 137.2 158.7
Liabilities held for sale 62.5 -
Other current liabilities 1,410.8 1,334.9
Total current liabilities 3,847.6 4,345.8
Long-termdebt 7,538.8 75514
Pension and postretiremment benefits 627.1 651.7
Deferred incorre taxes 290.7 4182
Operating lease liabilities 438.6 4255
Other liabilities 4111 381.8
Total liabilities 13,153.9 13,7744
Commitrrents and contingencies (Note 17)
Equity (a)
Conmron stock 367.1 365.7
Additional paid-in capital 7,002.1 6,766.7
Retained earnings 10,653.3 10,0754
Accunulated other conprehensive loss (1,899.4) (1,850.4)
Treasury stock (7,835.7) (7,312.7)
Total Ecolab shareholders’ equity 8,287.4 8,044.7
Noncontrolling interest 20.5 275
Total equity 8,307.9 8,072.2
Total liabilities and equity $21,461.8 $21,846.6

(a) Commron stock, 800.0 shares authorized, $1.00 par value per share, 284.5 shares outstanding as of June 30, 2024 and 285.4 shares

outstanding as of Decenrber 31, 2023. Shares outstanding are net of treasury stock.

The acconpanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(unaudited)

Six Months Ended
June 30
(millions) 2024 2023
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income including noncontrolling interest $911.6 $572.8
Adjustments to reconcile net incore to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 316.9 311.3
Anortization 152.9 1524
Deferred income taxes (137.7) (36.8)
Share-based conmpensation expense 829 58.7
Pension and postretirement plan contributions (30.8) (29.0)
Pension and postretirement plan expense (incorre), net 8.0 4.3
Restructuring charges, net of cash paid (9.9) (26.3)
Other, net 13.6 132
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (110.1) (52.8)
Inventories (92.3) 150.9
Other assets 9.1) 19.2
Accounts payable 2101 (264.7)
Other liabilities (45.6) (101.6)
Cash provided by operating activities 1,260.5 771.6
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures (398.4) (345.7)
Property and other assets sold 35 8.6
Acquisitions and investrrents in affiliates, net of cash acquired (38.7) (105.0)
Other, net (11.8) (21.4)
Cash used for investing activities (445.4) (463.5)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net issuances of commercial paper and notes payable 1.7 17
Long-termdebt repayments (629.6) -
Reacquired shares (519.4) (10.9)
Dividends paid (340.7) (308.6)
Exercise of enrployee stock options 154.4 50.6
Hedge settlenents (0.6) (53.5)
Other, net (1.5) (1.5)
Cash used for financing activities (1,335.7) (322.2)
Hfect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
(8.9 (30.3)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (529.5) (44.4)
Net change in cash balances classified as assets held for sale (6.0) -
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 919.5 598.6
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $384.0 $554.2

The acconpanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(unaudited)
Second Quarter Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023
Additional Ecolab Non-
Common Paid-in Retained AQCI Treasury Shareholders' Controlling Total

(millions, except per share amounts) Stock Capital Eamings (Loss) Stock Equity Interest Equity
Balance, March 31, 2023 $365.0 $6,626.5 $9,401.3 ($1,737.2)  ($7,311.4) $7,344.2 $20.8 $7,365.0

Net income 320.7 320.7 5.0 334.7

Other comprehensive income (loss)

activity (24.6) (24.6) (2.0 (26.6)

Cash dividends declared (a) (151.0) (151.0) (151.0)

Changes in noncontralling interests 4.5) 4.5) 4.5)

Stock options and awards 0.3 62.1 0.8 63.2 63.2

Reacquired shares (0.3) (0.3 (0.3)
Balance, June 30, 2023 $365.3 $6,684.1 $9,580.0 ($1,761.8)  ($7,310.9) $7,556.7 $23.8 $7,580.5
Balance, March 31, 2024 $366.8 $6,917.6 $10,324.5 ($1,881.2)  (§7,522.1) $8,205.6 $20.0 $8,225.6

Net income 490.9 490.9 4.1 495.0

Other comprehensive income (loss)

activity (18.2) (18.2) (1.0) (19.2)

Cash dividends declared (a) (162.1) (162.1) (2.6) (164.7),

Stock options and awards 0.3 84.5 0.8 85.6 85.6

Reacquired shares (314.4) (314.4) (314.4)
Balance, June 30, 2024 $367.1 $7,002.1 $10,653.3 ($1,899.4) ($7,835.7) $8,287.4 $20.5 $8,307.9

Six Months Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023
Additional Ecolab Non-
Common Paid-n Retained OoCl Treasury Shareholders' Controlling Total

(millions, except per share amounts) Stock Capital Eamings (Loss) Stock Equity Interest Equity
Balance, December 31, 2022 $364.7 $6,580.2 $9,318.8 ($1,726.6)  ($7,301.0) $7,236.1 $2.5 $7,258.6

Net income 563.1 563.1 9.7 572.8

Other comprehensive income (loss)

activity (35.2) (35.2) (1.5) (36.7)

Cash dividends declared (a) (301.9) (301.9) 6.9) (308.8)

Changes in noncontrolling interests (4.5) (4.5) 4.5)

Stock options and awards 0.6 108.4 1.0 110.0 110.0

Reacquired shares (10.9) (10.9) (10.9)
Balance, June 30, 2023 $365.3 $6,684.1 $9,580.0 ($1,761.8) ($7,310.9) $7,556.7 $23.8 $7,580.5
Balance, December 31, 2023 $365.7 $6,766.7 $10,075.4 ($1,850.4) ($7,312.7) $8,044.7 $27.5 $8,072.2

Net income 903.0 903.0 8.6 911.6

Other comprehensive income (loss)

activity (49.0) (49.0) (0.5) (49.5)

Cash dividends declared (a) (325.1) (325.1) (15.1) (340.2)

Stock options and awards 1.4 235.4 1.4 238.2 238.2

Reacquired shares (524.4) (524.4) (524.4)
Balance, June 30, 2024 $367.1 $7,002.1 $10,653.3  ($1,899.4)  ($7,835.7) $8,287.4 $20.5  $8,307.9

(a) Dividends declared per conmon share were $0.57 and $0.53 in the second quarter of 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $1.14 and $1.06 in
the first six months of 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The acconpanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.




CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)

1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The unaudited consolidated financial information for the second quarter ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 reflects, in the opinion of managerrent, all
adjustrments necessary for a fair statement of the financial position, results of operations, conprehensive incorre, equity and cash flows of
Ecolab Inc. ("Ecolab" or "the Corrpany”) for the interimperiods presented. Any adjustments consist of normal recurring itens.

The financial results for any interimperiod are not necessarily indicative of results for the full year. The consolidated balance sheet data as of
Decenber 31, 2023 was derived fromthe audited consolidated financial staterrents but does not include all disclosures required by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The unaudited consolidated financial information should be read in conjunction with
the consolidated financial statemments and notes thereto incorporated in the Conpany's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Decenber
31, 2023 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC’) on February 23, 2024.

With respect to the unaudited financial information of the Corrpany for the second quarter ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 included in this Form
10-Q, Rricew aterhouseCoopers LLP reported that they have applied limited procedures in accordance with professional standards for a review
of such information. Their separate report dated August 2, 2024 appearing herein states that they did not audit and they do not express an
opinion on that unaudited financial information. Accordingly, the degree of reliance on their report on such information should be restricted in light
of the limited nature of the review procedures applied. Pricew aterhouseCoopers LLPis not subject to the liability provisions of Section 11 of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act"), for their report on the unaudited financial information because that report is not a "report” or a
"part" of a registration statement prepared or certified by Pricew aterhouseCoopers LLPwithin the meaning of Sections 7 and 11 of the Act.

2. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE

Assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale and presented separately on the balance sheet when all of the following criteria for a plan of
sale have been met: (1) management, having the authority to approve the action, conmits to a plan to sell the assets; (2) the assets are available
for immediate sale, in their present condition, subject only to terrrs that are usual and customary for sales of such assets; (3) an active program
to locate a buyer and other actions required to conplete the plan to sell the assets have been initiated; (4) the sale of the assets is probable and
transfer of the assets is expected to be conpleted within one year; (5) the assets are being actively marketed for a price that is reasonable in
relation to their current fair value; and (6) actions required to conplete the plan indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will
be made or the plan will be withdraw n. Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying value or fair value less costs to sell. Any loss
resulting fromthe measurement is recognized in the period the held-for-sale criteria are met. Gains are not recognized until the date of the sale.
When the disposal group is classified as held for sale, depreciation and anortization for long-lived assets ceases and the Conpany tests the
assets for inpairment. Unless otherwise specified, the anounts and information in the notes presented do not include assets and liabilities that
have been classified as held for sale as of June 30, 2024.

On April 27, 2024, the Conpany reached a definitive agreement to sell its global surgical solutions business for total consideration of $950 million
in cash, subject to certain working capital and other purchase price adjustments. Accordingly, the global surgical solutions business has et the
criteria to be classified as held for sale and the Conpany has aggregated and classified the assets and liabilities as held for sale in the
Conpany’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2024. The Conpany measured the assets and liabilities held for sale at the estimated fair
value less costs to sell, which resulted in no inpairment in the quarter. The Cormpany expects to record an associated pre-tax gain within Special
(Gains) and Charges in the Consolidated Statements of Income. On August 1, 2024, the Conpany conpleted the sale of its global surgical
solutions business pursuant to the definitive agreement dated April 27, 2024.




The global surgical solutions business did not meet the criteria to be classified as a discontinued operation. As a result, the Conmpany continued to
report its operating results in the Global Healthcare & Life Sciences reportable segment as of June 30, 2024. The assets and liabilities of
businesses held for sale were as follows:

June 30
(millions) 2024
Assets held for sale
Cash and cash equivalents $6.0
Accounts receivable, net 53.3
Inventories 83.6
Other current assets 6.5
Property, plant and equiprent, net 64.9
Goodwill 305.0
Other intangible assets, net 224
Operating lease assets 8.5
Other assets 154
Total assets held for sale $565.6
Liabilities held for sale
Accounts payable $28.9
Corrpensation and benefits 54
Other current liabilities 15.8
Postretirement health care and pension benefits 6.6
Operating lease liabilities 5.8
Total liabilities held for sale $62.5
3. SPECIAL (GAINS) AND CHARGES
Special (gains) and charges reported on the Consolidated Statements of Income include the following:
Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(mrillions) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Cost of sales
Restructuring activities $0.7 $8.1 $2.3 $11.3
Cost of sales subtotal 0.7 8.1 23 11.3
Special (gains) and charges
Restructuring activities 6.9 137 25.0 26.3
Sale of global surgical solutions business 7.3 - 13.3 -
Acquisition and integration activities 23 35 4.8 85
Other (4.3 3.8 (2.7) 10.7
Special (gains) and charges subtotal 12.2 21.0 40.4 455
Total special (gains) and charges $12.9 $29.1 $42.7 $56.8

For segment reporting purposes, special (gains) and charges are not allocated to reportable segments, which is consistent with the Conpany’s

internal management reporting.

Restructuring activities

Restructuring activities are primerily related to the Corrbined Programw hich is described below . These activities have been included as a
component of cost of sales and special (gains) and charges on the Consolidated Staterrents of Income. Restructuring liabilities have been
classified as a conrponent of other current and other noncurrent liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Combined Program

In Novenrber 2022 the Conpany approved a Europe cost savings program In February 2023, the Corrpany expanded its previously announced
Europe cost savings programto focus on its Institutional and Healthcare businesses in other regions. In connection with the expanded program
(“the Combined Progrant’), the Company expects to incur total pre-tax charges of $195 million ($150 million after tax). The Company expects that
these restructuring charges will be substantially conpleted by the end of 2024. Programactions include headcount reductions fromterminations,
not filling certain open positions, and facility closures. The Corrbined Programcharges are expected to be primerily cash expenditures related to
severance and asset disposals.




In anticipation of this Corrbined Program a linited nunber of actions were taken in the fourth quarter of 2022. As a result, the Conrpany
reclassified $19.3 million ($14.5 million after tax) fromother restructuring to the Conrbined Programin the first quarter of 2023.

During the second quarter of 2024 and 2023, the Conpany recorded restructuring charges of $2.3 million ($1.4 rrillion after tax) and $19.7 rrilion
($16.2 nillion after tax), respectively, and during the first six months of 2024 and 2023 $22.0 million ($17.2 million after tax) and $33.1 million
($26.4 nillion after tax), respectively, primarily related to severance and professional services. The Conpany has recorded $180.9 rrillion ($150.1
million after tax) of cumulative charges under the Conrbined Ran.

The Conrpany reclassified $5.3 rrillion ($4.0 million after tax) fromthe combined restructuring programto other restructuring in the second quarter
of 2024.

The net liability related to the Conrbined Programw as $32.2 million and $43.1 million as of June 30, 2024 and Decenber 31, 2023, respectively.
The remaining liability is expected to be paid over a period of a few nonths to several quarters and will continue to be funded fromoperating
activities.

Restructuring activity related to the Corrbined Programsince inception of the underlying actions includes the following iterrs:

Enployee Asset
(rrillions) Costs Disposals Other Total
2022-2023 Activity
Recorded expense and accrual $114.2 $14.0 $16.7 $144.9
Net cash payments (90.4) - (16.7) (107.1)
Non-cash charges - (14.0) - (14.0)
Reclassification 19.3 - - 19.3
Net restructuring liability, Decenrber 31, 2023 431 - - 431
2024 Activity
Recorded expense and accrual 38 0.7 17.5 220
Net cash payments (18.8) - (8.1) (26.9)
Non-cash charges - 0.7) - (0.7)
Reclassification - - (5.3) (5.3)
Net restructuring liability, June 30, 2024 $28.1 $- $4.1 $32.2

Other Restructuring Activities

During 2024, the Conpany incurred restructuring charges of $10.6 million ($8.0 million after tax) related to an immaterial restructuring plan
approved in the second quarter.

The restructuring liability balance for all other restructuring plans excluding the Corrbined Programwas $9.0 million as of the end of the second
quarter.

One Ecolab

On July 30, 2024, the Conpany announced the One Ecolab initiative, w hich will enhance its growth and margin expansion journey. As a program
within this initiative, the Cormpany also announced that it cormmenced a restructuring plan to leverage its digital technologies to realign the
functional work done in many countries into global centers of excellence. The Conpany anticipates restructuring costs of $175 rrillion ($136
million after tax) and special charges of $50 million ($39 million after tax) by the end of 2027. The Conpany anticipates that the restructuring
costs will primarily be cash expenditures for severance costs relating to teamreorganization.

Sale of global surgical solutions business

On April 27, 2024, the Cormpany reached a definitive agreement to sell its global surgical solutions business. The Corrpany recorded charges of
$7.3 million ($3.1 mrillion gain after tax) and $13.3 million ($1.4 million after tax) in the second quarter and first six months of 2024, respectively,
which are primerily related to professional fees to support the sale. The tax benefit is driven by a reduction to the Cormmpany’s valuation allowance
on capital loss carryforwards.

Acquisition and integration related costs

Acquisition and integration related costs reported in special (gains) and charges on the Consolidated Staterrents of Incorre include $2.3 million
($1.7 million after tax) and $3.5 million ($2.7 mrillion after tax) in the second quarter of 2024 and 2023, respectively. Acquisition and integration

related costs reported in special (gains) and charges on the Consolidated Statements of Income include $4.8 million ($3.6 million after tax) and
$8.5 nillion ($6.4 mrillion after tax) in the first six months of 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Further information related to the Corrpany’s acquisitions is included in Note 4.




Other operating activities

Other special (gains) and charges of ($4.3 million) ($3.1 million gain after tax) and $3.8 million ($2.8 million after tax) recorded in the second
quarter of 2024 and 2023, respectively, and ($2.7 rillion) ($2.2 million gain after tax) and $10.7 mrillion ($8.2 million after tax) recorded in the first
six months of 2024 and 2023, respectively, related primerily to recoveries of COVID era credits, professional fees and certain legal charges,

w hich are recorded in special (gains) and charges on the Consolidated Staterrents of Inconre.

4. ACQUISITIONS
Acquisitions

The Conpany makes business acquisitions that align with its strategic business objectives. The assets and liabilities of acquired businesses are
recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets based on estimates of the fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and noncontrolling
interests acquired as of the acquisition date. Goodwill is recognized in the amount that the purchase consideration paid exceeds the fair value of
the net assets acquired. Purchase consideration includes both cash paid and the fair value of noncash consideration exchanged, including stock
and/or contingent consideration, and is reduced by the ammount of cash or cash equivalents acquired.

In May 2023, the Conpany acquired Chemiink Laboratories LLC, a U.S.-based producer of small formet cleaning solutions. The Conpany mede
two other immaterial acquisitions during the second quarter of 2023. All three acquisitions became part of the Global Institutional & Specialty
reporting segment. The purchase accounting for these acquisitions were finalized in the second quarter of 2024.

In May 2024, the Corpany conpleted an immaterial acquisition w hich became part of the Global Pest Hirrination reporting segment.

The purchase accounting for this acquisition is prelininary and subject to change as the Conpany finalizes the valuation of intangible assets,
income tax balances and working capital. The Conpany expects the goodwill arising fromthe acquisition to be tax deductible.

No acquiisitions occurred during the first quarter of 2024 or 2023. The following table suntrarizes the acquisition date fair value of net assets
acquired fromthe Conpany’s acquisitions during the second quarter of 2024 and 2023:

June 30
(mrillions) 2024 2023
Net tangible assets (liabilities) acquired $0.1 $9.4
Identifiable intangible assets
Custonrer relationships 11.0 35.7
Tradenerks 1.8 -
Other technology 1.6 216
Total intangible assets 144 57.3
Goodwill 22.8 38.7
Total aggregate purchase price 373 1054
Acquisition-related liabilities and contingent consideration (2.0) (4.8)
Net cash paid for acquisitions, including acquisition-related
liabilities and contingent consideration $35.3 $100.6

During the first six months of 2024, the Conpany recorded adjustments associated with the finalization of the purchase accounting for its 2023
acquisitions. As a result of these purchase accounting adjustments, the Commpany made $3.5 million of acquisition-related payments, acquisition-
related net liabilities decreased by $3.5 nillion, net tangible assets acquired decreased by $0.7 million, definite-lived intangible assets increased
by $1.0 million, and goodwill decreased by $0.3 million.

The weighted average useful life of identifiable intangible assets acquired during the first six nonths of 2024 and 2023 were 9 years and 12
years, respectively.
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5. BALANCE SHEETS INFORMATION

June 30 Decenrber 31
(rrillions) 2024 2023
Accounts receivable, net
Accounts receivable $3,010.5 $2,983.2
Allow ance for expected credit losses and other accruals (134.2) (149.0)
Total $2,876.3 $2,834.2
Inventories
Finished goods $966.2 $911.4
Raw materials and parts 639.2 704.7
Inventories at FIFO cost 1,605.4 1,616.1
FIFO cost to LIFO cost difference (99.5) (118.9)
Total $1,505.9 $1,497.2
Other current assets
Prepaid assets $144.0 $143.9
Taxes receivable 166.1 186.9
Derivative assets 6.1 33
Other 104.3 59.1
Total $420.5 $393.2
Property, plant and equiprrent, net
Land $151.5 $155.6
Buildings and leasehold inprovenments 1,138.1 1,171.0
Machinery and equipment 2,132.0 2,113.8
Merchandising and custorrer equipment 2,813.8 2,758.4
Capitalized software 1,016.5 985.9
Construction in progress 464.4 4701
7,716.3 7,654.8
Accunulated depreciation (4,299.4) (4,180.2)
Total $3,416.9 $3,474.6
Other intangible assets, net
Intangible assets not subject to anortization
Trade names $1,230.0 $1,230.0
Intangible assets subject to anrortization
Custonrer relationships 3,204.4 3,385.1
Patents 503.4 503.6
Trademarks 370.1 406.5
Other technologies 524.1 551.2
4,602.0 4,846.4
Accumulated anortization
Customrer relationships (1,737.1) (1,805.0)
Patents (330.0) (319.4)
Trademarks (221.1) (238.0)
Other technologies (209.8) (220.5)
(2,498.0) (2,582.9)
Net intangible assets subject to anortization 2,104.0 2,263.5
Total $3,334.0 $3,493.5
Other assets
Deferred income taxes $121.3 $119.3
Pension 1241 1184
Derivative asset 32.8 236
Other 285.5 27114
Total $563.7 $532.7
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June 30 Decerrber 31
(rrillions) 2024 2023
Other current liabilities
Discounts and rebates $446.4 $438.8
Dividends payable 162.2 162.7
Interest payable 7.4 68.5
Taxes payable, other than income 1514 153.2
Derivative liability 3.2 37
Restructuring 385 489
Contract liability 106.1 110.9
Operating lease liabilities 132.0 126.1
Other 299.6 2221
Total $1,410.8 $1,334.9
Accunulated other conprehensive income (loss)
Unrealized (loss) gain on derivative financial instruments, net of tax $3.2 ($4.1)
Unrecognized pension and postretirerment benefit expense, net of tax (532.6) (534.7)
Qurrulative translation, net of tax (1,370.0) (1,311.6)
Total ($1,899.4) ($1,850.4)

6. DEBT AND INTEREST
Short-term Debt

The following table provides the conponents of the Conpany’s short-termdebt obligations as of June 30, 2024 and Decentber 31, 2023.

June 30 Decenrber 31
(mrillions) 2024 2023
Short-termdebt
Notes payable $3.5 $1.8
Long-termdebt, current maturities 24 628.6
Total $5.9 $630.4
Lines of Credit

As of June 30, 2024, the Conrpany has a $2.0 billion nulti-year revolving credit facility w hich expires in April 2026. The credit facility has been
established with a diverse syndicate of banks and supports the Conrpany’s U.S. and Euro contrercial paper progrars. There were no
borrowings under the Conpany’s credit facility as of either June 30, 2024 or Decerrber 31, 2023.

Commercial Paper

The Conrpany’s commrercial paper programis used as a potential source of liquidity and consists of a $2.0 billion U.S. commercial paper program
and a $2.0 billion Eurro commercial paper program The maximumaggregate anmount of conmercial paper that may be issued by the Conrpany
under its commercial paper programs may not exceed $2.0 billion.

The Conpany had no outstanding commercial paper under its U.S. and Euro commercial paper prograns as of June 30, 2024 or Decerrber 31,
2023.

Notes Payable
The Conpany’s notes payable consists of uncommitted credit lines with major international banks and financial institutions, primarily to support

global cash pooling structures. As of June 30, 2024 and Decerrber 31, 2023, the Conpany had $3.5 million and $1.8 million, respectively,
outstanding under these credit lines.
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Long-term Debt

The following table provides the components of the Conpany’s long-termdebt obligations, including current meturities, as of June 30, 2024 and
Decenber 31, 2023.

Maturity June 30 Decenrber 31
(millions) by Year 2024 2023
Long-termdebt
Rublic notes (2024 principal amount)
Seven year 2016 senior notes (€575 million) 2024 $- $625.9
Ten year 2015 senior notes (€575 rrillion) 2025 623.1 625.1
Ten year 2016 senior notes ($750 million) 2026 728.5 7282
Ten year 2017 senior notes ($500 million) 2027 445.6 448.3
Six Year 2021 senior notes ($500 million) 2027 497.8 4974
Five Year 2022 senior notes ($500 rrillion) 2028 494.9 494.2
Ten year 2020 senior notes ($698 million) 2030 652.5 662.7
Ten year 2020 senior notes ($600 million) 2031 556.6 561.0
Beven year 2021 senior notes ($650 million) 2032 645.5 645.2
Thirty year 2011 senior notes ($389 million) 2041 384.9 384.7
Thirty year 2016 senior notes ($200 million) 2046 197.4 1974
Thirty year 2017 senior notes ($484 million) 2047 427.5 426.8
Thirty year 2020 senior notes ($500 million) 2050 491.2 491.1
Thirty year 2021 senior notes ($850 million) 2051 839.5 839.3
Thirty-four year 2021 senior notes ($685 rrillion) 2055 540.2 539.2
Finance lease obligations and other 16.0 13.5
Total debt 7,541.2 8,180.0
Long-termdebt, current meturities (24) (628.6)
Total long-termdebt $7,538.8 $7,551.4

Public Notes

The Conpany’s public notes may be redeemed by the Conpany at its option at redenption prices that include accrued and unpaid interest and a
make-w hole premium Upon the occurrence of a change of control acconpanied by a dow ngrade of the public notes below investrrent grade
rating, within a specified time period, the Company would be required to offer to repurchase the public notes at a price equal to 101% of the
aggregate principal anmount thereof, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to the date of repurchase. The public notes are senior unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Conpany and rank equally with all other senior and unsubordinated indebtedness of the Conpany.
Covenants

The Conpany is in conrpliance with all covenants under the Conpany’s outstanding indebtedness as of June 30, 2024.

Net Interest Expense

Interest expense and interest income recognized during the second quarter and first six nonths of 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(rrillions) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Interest expense $80.2 $82.7 $174.7 $162.8
Interest income (1.4) (4.9 (24.3) (10.8)
Interest expense, net $78.8 $77.8 $150.4 $152.0

Interest expense generally includes the expense associated with the interest on the Conpany’s outstanding borrowings, including the inpact of
the Conpany’s interest rate swap agreements. Interest expense also includes the anortization of debt issuance costs and debt discounts, which
are both recognized over the termof the related debt.
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7. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill

Goodw ll arises fromthe Conpany’s acquisitions and represents the excess of the fair value of the purchase consideration exchanged over the
fair value of net assets acquired. The Conpany’s reporting units are its eight operating segments. The Conpany assesses goodwill for
impairment on an annual basis during the second quarter. f circunstances change or events occur that denonstrate it is nore likely than not that
the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the Company conpletes an interimgoodwill assessment of that reporting unit prior
to the next annual assessment. If the results of an annual or interimgoodwill assessment denonstrate the carrying anount of a reporting unit is
greater than its fair value, the Conpany will recognize an inmpairment loss for the anount by which the reporting unit's carrying amount exceeds
its fair value, but not to exceed the carrying anount of goodwill assigned to that reporting unit.

During the second quarter of 2024, the Conpany conpleted its annual goodw ill impairment assessment for its reporting units using discounted
cash flow analyses that incorporated assunptions regarding future growth rates, terminal values and discount rates. The global surgical
solutions business that is held for sale was assessed separately for impairment as a disposal group. The Conpany’s goodw ill inpairment
assessments for 2024 indicated the estinmated fair values of each of these eight reporting units and the disposal group exceeded the carrying
amounts of the respective reporting unit by a significant margin. There has been no inpairment of goodw ill in any of the periods presented.

The changes in the carrying anmount of goodw ill for each of the Conpany's reportable segments during the second quarter ended June 30, 2024
were as follows:

Global Global Global
Global Institutional Healthcare & Pest
(rrillions) Industrial & Specialty Life Sciences Hinination Other Total

Decenber 31, 2023 $4,140.6 $610.0 $3,1584 $ $239.2 $8,148.2
Segrrent changes (a) 102.9 - - 136.3 (239.2) -
Decenrber 31, 2023 recast 4,2435 610.0 3,1584 136.3 - 8,148.2
Current year business comrbinations - - - 228 - 2238
Prior year business comrbinations (b) (0.3) - - - - (0.3)
Transferred to held for sale - - (305.0) - - (305.0)
Hfect of foreign currency translation (38.8) (0.4) (4.5) (0.1) - (43.8)
June 30, 2024 $4,204.4 $609.6 $2,848.9 $159.0 $- $7,821.9

(a) Relates to reclassifications made to reportable segments in the current year. Bfective January 1, 2024, the Conpany'’s former Textile Care
and Colloidal Technologies Group (“CTG’) operating segments are now part of the Water operating segment w hich continues to rerain in
the Global Industrial reportable segment. Additionally, the Pest Binrination operating segment, formerly aggregated with the Textile Care and
CTG operating segments within Other, is now reported as the stand-alone Global Pest Hirrination reportable segment. After these changes,
the Conpany has eight operating segments aligned with eight reporting units. Refer to Note 16 for further information.

(b) Represents purchase accounting adjustments associated with 2023 acquisitions.

Other Intangible Assets

The Nalco trade name is the Corrpany’s only indefinite life intangible asset, which is tested for inpairment on an annual basis during the second
quarter. During the second quarter of 2024, the Conrpany corrpleted its annual inpairment assessment of the Nalco trade name using the relief
fromroyalty discounted cash flow method, w hich incorporates assunptions regarding future sales projections, royalty rates and discount rates.
The Conrpany’s Nalco trade name inpairment assessment for 2024 indicated the estimeted fair value of the Nalco trade name exceeded its $1.2
billion carrying amount by a significant margin. There has been no inpairment of the Nalco trade name intangible since it was acquired.

The Conpany’s intangible assets subject to amortization include custorrer relationships, trademarks, patents and other technologies primarily
acquired through business acquisitions. The fair value of intangible assets acquired in business acquisitions are estimated primerily using
discounted cash flow valuation methods at the time of acquisition. Intangible assets are anortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated
lives. Total anortization expense related to intangible assets during the second quarter of 2024 and 2023 was $75.1 rrillion and $76.8 rillion,
respectively, and during the first six months of 2024 and 2023 was $152.9 rrillion and $152.4 rrillion, respectively. Anortization expense related
to intangible assets for the remaining six-month period of 2024 is expected to be approximately $151 million.
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8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Corrpany'’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, contingent consideration
obligations, commercial paper, notes payable, foreign currency forward contracts, interest rate swap agreements, cross-currency swap

derivative contracts and long-termdebt.

Fair value is defined as the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants as of the measurement date. A hierarchy has been established for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of
observable inputs and nrninrizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring the nost observable inputs be used w hen available. The hierarchy

is broken down into three levels:

Level 1- Inputs are quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurenent date for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 - Inputs include observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets.
Level 3- Inputs are unobservable inputs for w hich there is little or no market data available.

The carrying amount and the estimated fair value for assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis were:

June 30, 2024
(rrillions) Carrying Fair Value Measurenents
Anount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets

Foreign currency forward contracts $27.6 $- $27.6 $-

Qross-currency swap derivative contracts 421 - 421 -
Liabilities

Foreign currency forward contracts 24.6 - 24.6 -

Interest rate swap agreements 1634 - 163.4 -

QOross-currency swap derivative contracts 21.2 - 21.2 -

Decenber 31, 2023
(millions) Carrying Fair Value Measurements
Anount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets

Foreign currency forward contracts $26.6 $ $26.6 $

Qross-currency swap derivative contracts 291 - 291 -
Liabilities

Foreign currency forward contracts 27.0 - 27.0 -

Interest rate swap agreements 146.5 - 146.5 -

Qross-currency swap derivative contracts 24.9 - 24.9 -

The carrying value of foreign currency forward contracts is at fair value, which is deterrmined based on foreign currency exchange rates as of
the balance sheet date and classified within Level 2. The carrying value of interest rate swap agreements is at fair value, which is deterrmined
based on current forward interest rates as of the balance sheet date and are classified within Level 2. The cross-currency swap derivative
contracts are used to partially hedge the Corrpany’s net investrrents in foreign operations against adverse novenents in exchange rates

betw een the U.S. dollar and the Euro and the U.S. dollar and CNH (CN\H is the Chinese Yuan traded in the offshore market). The carrying value of
the cross-currency swap derivative contracts is at fair value, which is determined based on the income approach with the relevant interest
rates and foreign currency current exchange rates and forward curves as inputs as of the balance sheet date and are classified within Level 2.
For purposes of fair value disclosure above, derivative values are presented gross. Further discussion of gross versus net presentation of the
Conpany's derivatives is within Note 9.

Contingent consideration obligations are recognized and measured at fair value at the acquisition date and thereafter until settlement or
expiration. Contingent consideration is classified within Level 3 as the underlying fair value is determined using income-based valuation
approaches appropriate for the terms and conditions of each respective contingent consideration. The consideration expected to be transferred
is based on the Conpany’s expectations of various financial measures. The ultimate payment of contingent consideration could deviate from
current estimates based on the actual results of these financial measures. Contingent consideration was not material to the Conrpany’s

consolidated financial staterrents.

The carrying values of accounts receivable, accounts payable, cash and cash equivalents, commercial paper and notes payable approximate
fair value because of their short meturities and as such are classified within Level 1.

The fair value of long-termdebt is based on quoted market prices for the same or similar debt instruments (classified as Level 2). The carrying
amount, w hich includes adjustments related to the inpact of interest rate swap agreements, preniuns and discounts, and deferred debt
issuance costs, and the estimated fair value of long-termdebt, including current meturities, held by the Conpany were:

Long-termdebt, including current maturities

June 30, 2024 Decenber 31, 2023
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Anount Value Anount Value
$7,541.2 $6,660.2 $8,180.0 $7,552.5
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9. DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING TRANSACTIONS

The Corrpany uses foreign currency forward contracts, interest rate swap agreements, cross-currency swap derivative contracts and foreign
currency debt to manage risks associated with foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and net investrrents in foreign operations. The
Corrpany does not hold derivative financial instruments of a speculative nature or for trading purposes. The Conpany records derivatives as
assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized inmrediately in earnings unless the
derivative qualifies and is designated as a hedge. Cash flows fromderivatives are classified in the Consolidated Statemments of Cash Flowss in the
same category as the cash flow s fromthe itens subject to designated hedge or undesignated (econonric) hedge relationships. The Conpany
evaluates hedge effectiveness at inception and on an ongoing basis. If a derivative is no longer expected to be effective, hedge accounting is
discontinued.

The Corrpany is exposed to credit risk in the event of nonperformance of counterparties for foreign currency forward exchange contracts and
interest rate swap agreements. The Conrpany nonitors its exposure to credit risk by using credit approvals and credit limits and by selecting
mejor global banks and financial institutions as counterparties. The Corrpany does not anticipate nonperformance by any of these counterparties,
and therefore, recording a valuation allow ance against the Conpany’s derivative balance is not considered necessary.

Derivative Positions Summary
Certain of the Conpany’s derivative transactions are subject to master netting arrangenents that allow the Conpany to net settle contracts with
the same counterparties. These arrangenments generally do not call for collateral and as of the applicable dates presented in the following table,

no cash collateral had been received or pledged related to the underlying derivatives.

The respective net anounts are included in other current assets, other assets, other current liabilities and other liabilities on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

The following table summarizes the gross fair value and the net value of the Corrpany’s outstanding derivatives:

Derivative Assets Derivative Liabilities
June 30 Decenber 31 June 30 Decenber 31
(rrillions) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments
Foreign currency forward contracts $10.9 $6.7 $3.3 $5.2
Interest rate swap agreements - - 163.4 146.5
Qross-currency swap derivative contracts 421 291 21.2 249
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
Foreign currency forward contracts 16.7 19.9 21.3 21.8
Gross value of derivatives 69.7 55.7 209.2 198.4
Gross anounts offset in the Consolidated Balance Sheets (30.8) (28.8) (30.8) (28.8)
Net value of derivatives $38.9 $26.9 $178.4 $169.6

The following table sunmarizes the notional values of the Conpany’s outstanding derivatives:

Notional Values

June 30 Decerrber 31
(rrillions) 2024 2023
Foreign currency forward contracts $4,050 $3,745
Interest rate swap agreements 1,500 1,500
Qross-currency swap derivative contracts 1,291 998
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Cash Flow Hedges

The Conpany utilizes foreign currency forward contracts to hedge the effect of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on forecasted
foreign currency transactions, including inventory purchases and intercorrpany royalty, interconpany loans, management fee and other
payments. These forward contracts are designated as cash flow hedges. The changes in fair value of these contracts are recorded in
accunulated other commprehensive incorre (loss) (“AOCI) until the hedged itenrs affect earnings, at which time the gain or loss is reclassified into
the sarre line itemin the Consolidated Statemments of Income as the underlying exposure being hedged. Cash flow hedged transactions inmpacting
AQOC are forecasted to occur within the next year. For forward contracts designated as hedges of foreign currency exchange rate risk
associated with forecasted foreign currency transactions, the Cormpany excludes the changes in fair value attributable to time value fromthe
assessment of hedge effectiveness. The initial value of the excluded conponent (i.e., the forward points) is anortized on a straight-line basis
over the life of the hedging instrumment and recognized in the sane line itemin the Consolidated Staterrents of Incorme as the underlying exposure
being hedged for interconpany loans. For all other cash flow hedge types, the forward points are mark-to-market nonthly and recognized in the
sane line itemin the Consolidated Statemments of Incorme as the underlying exposure being hedged. The difference betw een fair value changes of
the excluded conponent and the amount anortized in the Consolidated Staterrents of Income is recorded in ACCI.

Fair Value Hedges

The Conpany manages interest expense using a mix of fixed and floating rate debt. To help manage exposure to interest rate novenents and to
reduce borrowing costs, the Conpany may enter into interest rate swaps under w hich the Corrpany agrees to exchange, at specified intervals,
the difference betw een fixed and floating interest anounts calculated by reference to an agreed upon notional principal amount. The mark-to-
market of these fair value hedges is recorded as gains or losses in interest (incorme) expense and is offset by the gain or loss of the underlying
debt instrument, which also is recorded in interest (income) expense. These fair value hedges are highly effective and thus, there is no inpact
on earnings due to hedge ineffectiveness.

In aggregate, the Conpany has entered into a series of interest rate swap agreements to convert $1.5 billion of its debt froma fixed interest rate
to a floating interest rate. The fixed interest rates range from1.3% to 4.8% and meture betw een 2026 and 2031. These interest rate swap
agreements are designated as fair value hedges.

The following anmounts were recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets related to cumulative basis adjustments for fair value hedges:

CQumulative ammount of the fair value

Carrying amount of the hedged hedging adjustrent included in the
liabilities carrying anount of the hedged liabilities
Second Quarter Ended Second Quarter Ended
Line itemin w hich the hedged itemis included June 30 June 30
(rrillions) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Long-termdebt $1,336.4 $1,317.9 ($166.0) ($184.5)

Net Investment Hedges

The Conrpany designates its outstanding €575 rillion ($624 rrillion at the end of the second quarter of 2024) senior notes (“Euronotes”) and
related accrued interest as a hedge of its Euro denominated exposures fromthe Conpany’s investrrents in certain of its Euro denominated
functional currency subsidiaries.

In May of 2024, the Conrpany entered into a cross-currency swap derivative contract with a notional anmount of €300 million maturing in 2032. In
aggregate, the Conpany maintains a series of Euro cross-currency swap derivative contracts maturing in 2026 and 2032. These cross-currency
swap derivative contracts are designated as net investment hedge of the Cormpany’s Euro denominated exposures fromthe Conpany’s
investrrents in certain of its Euro denominated functional currency subsidiaries. The cross-currency sw ap derivative contracts exchange fixed-
rate payments in one currency for fixed-rate payments in another currency. As of June 30, 2024, the Company had €925 million ($991 mrillion)
cross-currency swap derivative contracts outstanding as a hedge of the Conpany’s net investrrent in foreign operations. The changes in the
spot rate of these instruments are recorded in AOC in stockholders’ equity, partially offsetting the foreign currency translation adjustrrent of the
Conpany’s related net investrment that is also recorded in AOCL. Any ineffective portions of net investment hedges are reclassified fromAOCI
into earnings during the period of change. The interest income or expense fromthese swaps are recorded in interest expense on the
acconpanying Consolidated Staterments of Income consistent with the classification of interest expense attributable to the underlying debt.

During 2023, the Conpany entered into ONH cross-currency swap derivative contracts with a notional amount of ONH 1,094 million and

CNH 1,098 nillion, respectively, both maturing in 2032. The cross-currency swap derivative contracts are designated as net investrrent hedges
of its Chinese Yuan (“CNY”) denominated exposures fromthe Conpany’s investrrents in certain CNY denominated functional currency
subsidiaries. The cross-currency swap derivative contracts exchange fixed-rate payments in USD for fixed-rate payments in CNH. As of June
30, 2024, the Conpany had in aggregate, CNH 2,192 rillion ($300 rrillion) cross-currency swap derivative contracts outstanding as a hedge of
the Conpany’s net investment in foreign operations. The changes in the spot rate of these instruments are recorded in AOC! in stockholders’
equity, partially offsetting the foreign currency translation adjustrent of the Conpany’s related net investment that is also recorded in AOCL. The
interest income or expense fromthese swaps is recorded in interest expense on the acconpanying Consolidated Staterrents of Income
consistent with the classification of interest expense attributable to the underlying debt.
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The revaluation gains and losses on the Euronotes and cross-currency swap derivative contracts, w hich are designated and effective as
hedges of the Corrpany’s net investents, have been included as a conponent of the cunulative translation adjustment account, and were as
follows:

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(mrillions) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Revaluation gain (loss), net of tax:
Euronotes ($1.9) ($9.8) $0.6 ($24.9)
Qross-currency swap derivative contracts 5.2 (14.0) 11.6 (15.6)
Total revaluation gain (loss), net of tax $3.3 ($23.8) $12.2 ($40.5)

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

The Conpany also uses foreign currency forward contracts to offset its exposure to the change in value of certain foreign currency
denoninated assets and liabilities held at foreign subsidiaries, primarily receivables and payables, w hich are remeasured at the end of each
period. Although the contracts are effective econonric hedges, they are not designated as accounting hedges. Therefore, changes in the value
of these derivatives are recognized intrediately in earnings, thereby offsetting the current earnings effect of the related foreign currency
denoninated assets and liabilities.

Effect of all Derivative Instruments on Income

The gain (loss) of all derivative instruments recognized in product and equipment cost of sales (“COS”), selling, general and administrative
expenses (“SG&A”) and interest expense, net (“interest”) is sunmrarized below:

Second Quarter Ended
June 30
2024 2023
(rrillions) COS SG&A Interest oS SG8A Interest
Gain (loss) on derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency forward contracts
Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from AOC! to income $1.2 $1.3 $- $2.8 ($44) $
Anpunt excluded fromthe assessment of effectiveness
recognized in earnings based on changes in fair value - - - - - 21
Interest rate swap agreements
Anount of (loss) gain reclassified fromAQOC to income - - (0.4) - - (0.4)

Gain (loss) on derivatives not designated as hedging
instrurents:
Foreign currency forward contracts
Anount of gain (loss) recognized in income - (5.4) - - (3.5 -
Total gain (loss) of all derivative instruments $1.2 ($4.1) ($0.4) $2.8 (7.9 $1.7

Six Months Ended
June 30
2024 2023
(mrillions) COS SG&A Interest oS SGSA Interest
Gain (loss) on derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency forward contracts
Amount of gain (loss) reclassified fromAQOC! to income $1.2 $2.0 $- $8.1 ($10.4) $
Anount excluded fromthe assessment of effectiveness
recognized in earnings based on changes in fair value - - - - - 41
Interest rate swap agreements
Anount of (loss) gain reclassified fromAOC to income -

(09) - - (09)

Gain (loss) on derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments:
Foreign currency forward contracts
Anount of gain (loss) recognized in income - (5.0) - - (28.1) -
Total gain (loss) of all derivative instruments $1.2 ($3.0) ($0.9) $8.1 ($38.5) $3.2

Subsequent Event

In July 2024, the Conpany entered into cross-currency swap derivative contracts with notional amounts of €200 million, €100 million and €100
million meturing in 2028, 2028 and 2026, respectively. These cross-currency swap derivative contracts are designated as net investment hedges
of its Euro denonrinated exposures fromthe Corrpany’s investnents in certain of its Euro denominated functional currency subsidiaries.
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10. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) INFORMATION

Other conrprehensive incomre (loss) includes net income, foreign currency translation adjustrrents, defined benefit pension and postretirement
plan adjustments, gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and effective as cash flow hedges and non-derivative instruments
designated and effective as foreign currency net investment hedges that are charged or credited to the accumulated other conprehensive loss
account in shareholders’ equity. Refer to Note 9 for additional information related to the Conpany’s derivatives and hedging transactions. Refer to
Note 14 for additional information related to the Conrpany’s pension and postretiremment benefits activity.

The following tables provide other conprehensive income information related to the Conpany’s derivatives and hedging instruments and pension
and postretirement benefits:

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Derivative and Hedging Instruments
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative and hedging instruments
Anpunt recognized in AOCI $4.8 ($1.6) $11.4 ($6.7)
(Gain) loss reclassified fromAOC into income
oS (1.2) (2.8) (1.2) (8.1)
SG8A (1.3) 44 (2.0) 104
Interest (income) expense, net 0.4 (1.7) 0.9 (3.2)
(21) (0.1) (2.3 (0.9
Other activity - 1.1 - 12
Tax inpact (0.5) (0.9 (1.8) 0.2
Net of tax $2.2 ($1.5) $7.3 ($6.2)
Pension and Postretirerent Benefits
Anvount reclassified fromAOC into income
Settlerrent charge $- $ $0.4 $0.6
Annrtization of losses and prior period service credits, net 2.3 0.9 4.0 25
23 0.9 44 3.1
Other activity (1.1) (4.5) (0.2) (6.1)
Tax inpact (1.3 (0.7) (2.0) (1.1)
Net of tax ($0.1) ($4.3) $2.2 ($4.1)
The following table summarizes the derivative and pension and postretirement benefit anmounts reclassified from AOC! into incomre:
Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2024 2023 2024 2023
(milions)
Derivative (gain) loss reclassified fromAQOC! into incorre, net of tax ($1.6) (%0.1) ($1.7) ($0.7)
Pension and postretirement benefits amortization of losses and prior period
service credits, net and settlement charges, reclassified from AOC into income,
net of tax (0.1) (4.3) 2.2 (4.1)
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11. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share Repurchase Authorization

In February 2015 and Novenrber 2022, the Corrpany’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 20,000,000 and 10,000,000,
respectively, additional shares of its conmon stock, including shares to be repurchased under Rule 10b5-1. As of June 30, 2024, 10,720,395
shares remeined to be repurchased under the Conpany’s repurchase authorization. The Conpany intends to repurchase all shares under its
authorization, for w hich no expiration date has been established, in open merket or privately negotiated transactions, subject to market
conditions.

Share Repurchases
During the first six months of 2024, the Conpany reacquired 2,285,183 shares of its conmon stock, of which 2,196,702 related to share
repurchases through open market and 88,481 related to shares withheld for taxes on the exercise of stock options and the vesting of stock

awards and units.

During the first six months of 2023, the Conpany reacquired 68,712 shares of its cormon stock related to shares withheld for taxes on the
exercise of stock options and the vesting of stock awards and units.

12. EARNINGS ATTRIBUTABLE TO ECOLAB PER COMMON SHARE (“EPS”)

The difference in the w eighted average conmon shares outstanding for calculating basic and diluted BPS is a result of the dilution associated
with the Corrpany’s equity conpensation plans. As noted in the table below, certain stock options and units outstanding under these equity
conpensation plans were not included in the conputation of diluted BPS because they would not have had a dilutive effect.

The comrputations of the basic and diluted BPS anounts were as follow's:

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30

(rrillions, except per share) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Net incore attributable to Ecolab $490.9 $329.7 $903.0 $563.1
Weighted-average conmron shares outstanding

Basic 284.6 284.9 285.2 284.8

Efect of dilutive stock options and units 24 14 2.2 1.3

Diluted 287.0 286.3 287.4 286.1
Earnings attributable to Ecolab per conmon share

Basic BPS $1.72 $1.16 $3.17 $1.98

Diuted BPS $1.71 $1.15 $3.14 $1.97
Anti-dilutive securities excluded fromthe conputation of diluted BPS - 26 1.5 38

Anounts do not necessarily sumdue to rounding.




13. INCOME TAXES

The Corrpany’s tax rate was 16.2% and 20.6% for the second quarter of 2024 and 2023, respectively, and 13.1% and 19.5% for the first six
nonths of 2024 and 2023, respectively. The change in the Conpany’s tax rate for the second quarter and first six nonths of 2024 conpared to
the second quarter and first six nmonths of 2023 was driven primarily by the inpact of discrete tax items and special (gains) and charges. Further
information related to special (gains) and charges is included in Note 3.

The Comrpany recognized net tax benefits related to discrete tax itens of $10.3 rrillion and $58.5 rillion in the second quarter and first six months
of 2024, respectively. This included a tax benefit of $41.9 nrillion in the first six months of 2024 associated with transferring certain intangible
property betw een affiliates and $3.7 million and $12.3 million in the second quarter and first six months of 2024, respectively, associated with
share-based conmpensation excess tax benefits. The remaining net benefit of $6.6 million and $4.3 million in the second quarter and first six
nonths of 2024, respectively, is fromother income tax adjustrments including the inpact of changes in tax law's, audit settlements, unrecognized
tax benefits and other changes in estimates.

The Comrpany recognized net tax expense related to discrete tax items of $2.8 million and a net tax benefit of $1.2 million in the second quarter
and first six months of 2023, respectively. This included share-based compensation excess tax benefits of $1.8 million and $1.9 rrillion in the
second quarter and first six months of 2023, respectively. Additionally, the Company recognized discrete tax expense of $4.6 million and $0.7
million during the second quarter and first six months of 2023, respectively, primarily due to audit settlements, uncertain tax positions, prior year
return adjustrrents, repricing of deferred tax balances, and other changes in estirrates.

The Organization for Econonric Co-operation’s (“OECD’) global mininumtax regime (“Hllar Two”) became effective in certain countries where the
Conpany operates starting in 2024. As such, an estimate of Fllar Two tax has been considered within the provision for income taxes. The
Conpany continues to monitor these legislative developments, but based on information available does not anticipate meterial inpacts to the 2024
financial staterrents.

14. PENSION AND POSTRETIREMENT PLANS

The Conrpany has a non-contributory, qualified, defined benefit pension plan covering the majority of its U.S. enployees. The Corrpany also has
non-contributory, non-qualified, defined benefit pension plans, w hich provide for benefits to enployees in excess of linits permitted under its
U.S. pension plans. Various international subsidiaries also have defined benefit pension plans. The Conrpany also provides postretirement health

care and life insurance benefits to certain U.S. errployees and retirees.

The comrponents of net periodic pension and postretirement health care benefit expense for the second quarter ended June 30 are as follows:

us. International U.S. Postretirement
Pension Pension Health Care

(millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Service cost $11.6 $106 $4.9 $54 $0.1 $0.1
Interest cost on benefit obligation 21.8 220 12.2 11.6 13 14
Expected return on plan assets (37.7) (36.3) (12.5) (14.0) - -
Recognition of net actuarial loss (gain) 15 - 28 33 (0.8) (0.8)
Anortization of prior service benefit (1.1) (1.5 (0.1) 0.1) - -

Total expense (benefit) ($3.9) ($5.2) $7.3 $6.2 $0.6 $0.7

The comrponents of net periodic pension and postretirement health care benefit expense for the six months ended June 30 are as follow's:

us. International U.S. Postretirement
Pension Pension Health Care

(millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Service cost $23.2 $20.8 $9.8 $10.8 $0.2 $0.2
Interest cost on benefit obligation 43.6 44.0 246 23.0 26 28
Expected return on plan assets (75.4) (72.6) (25.0) (27.8) - -
Recognition of net actuarial loss (gain) 3.0 - 5.0 6.8 (1.6) (1.6)
Anortization of prior service benefit (2.2) (2.5) (0.2) 0.2 - -
Curtailments and settlements 0.4 0.7 - - - (0.1)

Total expense (benefit) ($7.4) ($9.6) $14.2 $12.6 $1.2 $1.3

Service cost is included as enployee conmpensation cost in either cost of sales or selling, general and adnrinistrative expenses on the
Consolidated Staterents of Income based on enployee roles, w hile non-service conponents are included in other (income) expense in the
Consolidated Staterents of Incorre.

As of June 30, 2024, the Conrpany is in conpliance with all funding requirements of each of its defined benefit plans.

During the first six nmonths of 2024, the Conpany made contributions of $4 million to its U.S. non-contributory non-qualified defined benefit plans
and estimates it will contribute an additional $5 million to such plans during the remainder of 2024.
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During the first six nmonths of 2024, the Conpany mede contributions of $21 million to its international pension plans and estinetes it will contribute
an additional $24 nrillion to such plans during the remeinder of 2024.

During the first six months of 2024, the Conpany made contributions of $6 million to its U.S. postretiremment health care plans and estimates it will
contribute an additional $5 million to such plans during the remainder of 2024.

15. REVENUES
Revenue Recognition
Product and Sold Equipment

Product revenue is generated fromsales of cleaning, sanitizing, water treatrment, process treatment and colloidal silica products. In addition, the
Corrpany sells equipment which may be used in comrbination with its specialized products. Revenue recognized fromproduct and equipment
sales is recognized at the point in time w hen the obligations in the contract with the customer are satisfied, w hich generally occurs with the
transfer of the product or delivery of the equiprent.

On June 3, 2020, the Conpany conpleted the separation of its Upstream Energy business (“ChanpionX’). The Conpany entered into an
agreement with ChanpionX to provide, receive or transfer certain products for a transitionary period. Transitionary period sales of product to
ChanrpionX under the agreement are recorded in product and equipment sales in the Corporate segment along with the related cost of sales,

w hile purchases from ChanpionX are recorded in inventory. The remeining sales to ChanrpionX are recorded in product and equipment sales in
the Global Industrial segment along with the related cost of sales.

Service and Lease Equipment

Service and lease equipment revenue is generated fromproviding services or leasing equipment to custorrers. Service offerings include
installing or repairing certain types of equipment, activities that supplement or replace headcount at the custorrer location, or fulfilling deliverables
included in the contract. Gobal Industrial segment services are associated with water treatment and paper process applications. Gobal
Institutional & Specialty segment services include cleaning and sanitizing prograns and wash process solutions. Gobal Healthcare & Life
Sciences segment services include pharmaceutical, personal care, infection and containment control solutions. Revenues included in Global Pest
Himination primerily relate to services designed to detect, eliminate and prevent pests. Service revenue is recognized over time utilizing an input
method and aligns with when the services are provided. Typically, revenue is recognized over time using costs incurred to date because the
effort provided by the field selling and service organization represents services provided, w hich corresponds with the transfer of control.
Revenue recognized fromleased equipment primerily relates to warew ashing and water treatment equipment recognized on a straight-line basis
over the length of the lease contract pursuant to Topic 842 Leases.

The Conpany’s operating lease revenue was as follows:

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(millions) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Operating lease revenue* $131.6 $128.7 $264.8 $255.1

*Includes immaterial variable lease revenue

The following table show's principal activities, separated by reportable segments, fromw hich the Conpany generates its revenue. The Corporate
segment includes sales to ChanpionX under the transitional supply agreement entered into as part of the ChanpionX Separation. For more
information about the Conpany’s reportable segments, refer to Note 16.




Net sales at public exchange rates by reportable segment are as follow's:

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30

(rrillions) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Global Industrial

Product and sold equiprment $1,702.7 | $1,683.1 $3,315.2 | $3,2754

Service and lease equipment 233.8 226.4 460.5 4432
Global Institutional & Specialty

Product and sold equipment 1,109.9 1,047.2 2,131.3 1,968.0

Service and lease equipment 254.0 225.0 499.3 433.0
Global Healthcare & Life Sciences

Product and sold equipment 360.5 363.9 7131 716.5

Service and lease equipment 29.2 26.9 56.5 54.0
Global Pest Himination

Product and sold equipment - - - -

Service and lease equipment 295.7 269.0 561.8 5124
Corporate

Product and sold equipment - 10.6 - 21.2

Service and lease equipment - - - -
Total

Total product and sold equipment $3,173.1| $3,104.8 $6,159.6 | $5,981.1

Total service and lease equipment $812.7 $747.3 $1,578.1 $1,442.6
Net sales at public exchange rates by geographic region for the second quarter ended June 30 are as follow's:

Global Global Institutional Global Healthcare Global Pest
Industrial & Specialty & Life Sciences Hinmination Corporate
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 12024 2023

United States $830.3 $806.0 $960.9 $879.8 | $147.6 $1546 | $206.8 $1859 | $- $9.6
Burope 410.6 4143 179.3 1747 187.0 186.2 46.4 4238 - 0.7
Asia Pacific 230.8 2389 59.5 584 26.5 25 8.0 72 - 0.1
Latin Anerica 197.6 1829 46.8 476 59 6.6 15.0 14.2 - 0.2
Greater China 100.5 104.4 40.5 405 13.8 129 14.9 14.5 - -
India, Mddle East
and Africa 1123 107.8 17.8 17.2 71 64 17 17 - -
Canada 54.4 55.2 59.1 54.0 1.8 1.6 29 2.7 - -

Total $1,936.5 $1,909.5 | $1,363.9 $1,272.2 | $389.7 $390.8 [ $295.7 $269.0 | $- $10.6
Net sales at public exchange rates by geographic region for the six nonths ended June 30 are as follow's:

Global Global Institutional Global Healthcare Global Pest
Industrial & Specialty & Life Sciences Himination Corporate

(mrillions) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 12024 2023
United States $1,624.1 $1,599.0 | $1,844.1 $1,665.8 | $297.4 $317.1 $388.5 $351.8 | $- $19.2
Europe 785.2 791.7 339.8 3212 371.5 360.6 89.6 81.5 - 14
Asia Pacific 461.5 467.3 118.8 115.2 49.9 421 15.6 141 - 0.1
Latin America 387.2 341.1 96.7 88.9 1.4 123 29.5 27.8 - 0.5
Greater China 198.2 201.3 85.2 76.1 232 237 29.6 285 - -
India, Mddle East
and Africa 2115 212.2 333 31.9 125 11.7 34 3.6 - -
Canada 108.0 106.0 112.7 101.9 3.7 3.0 5.6 5.1 - -

Total $3,775.7 $3,7186 | $2,630.6 $2,401.0 [ $769.6 $770.5 | $561.8 $5124 | $- $21.2

Net sales by geographic region were determined based on origin of sale. The United States made up 54% and 53% of total revenues during the
six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Expected Credit Losses

Accounts receivable are carried at the invoiced amounts, less an allow ance for expected credit losses, and generally do not bear interest. The
Corrpany’s allow ance for expected credit losses estimates the amount of expected future credit losses by analyzing accounts receivable
balances by age and applying historical write-off and collection experience. The Corrpany’s estimates separately consider macroeconomic
trends, specific circunstances and credit conditions of customer receivables. Account balances are written off against the allowance when it is
determined the receivable will not be recovered.

The Conrpany’s allow ance for expected return of products shipped and credits related to pricing or quantities shipped was $61.0 rillion and
$71.7 nillion as of June 30, 2024 and Decerber 31, 2023, respectively. Returns and credit activity is recorded directly as a reduction to revenue.

The following table summarizes the activity in the allow ance for expected credit losses:

Six Months Ended
June 30
(millions) 2024 2023
Beginning balance $77.3 $71.9
Bad debt expense 236 325
Write-offs (24.3) (18.6)
Other (a) (0.4) (20)
Transferred to held for sale (3.0 -
Ending balance $73.2 $83.8

(a) Other amounts are primarily the effects of changes in currency translations.

Contract Liability

Payments received fromcustomers are based on invoices or billing schedules as established in contracts with customers. Accounts receivable
are recorded w hen the right to consideration becomes unconditional. The contract liability relates to billings in advance of performance (primarily
service obligations) under the contract. Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue w hen the performance obligation has been performed,

w hich primerily occurs during the subsequent quarter.

The following table summarizes the contract liability activity:

Six Months Ended
June 30

(mrillions) 2024 2023
Contract liability as of beginning of the year $110.9 $116.5
Revenue recognized in the period from

Amounts included in the contract liability at the beginning of the year (110.9) (116.5)
Increases due to bilings excluding anounts recognized as revenue during the period ended 106.1 107.4
Contract liability as of end of period $106.1 $107.4
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16. OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Conpany’s organizational structure consists of global business unit and global regional leadership teans. The Conrpany’s eight operating
segments follow its commercial and product-based activities and are based on engagement in business activities, availability of discrete financial
information and review of operating results by the Chief Operating Decision Maker at the identified operating segment level.

The Conpany’s operating segnments that share sinilar econorric characteristics and future prospects, nature of the products and production
processes, end-use merkets, channels of distribution and regulatory environment have been aggregated into four reportable segments: Global
Industrial, Gobal Institutional & Specialty, Global Healthcare & Life Sciences and Global Pest Hirrination.

Comparability of Reportable Segments

Efective January 1, 2024, the Conpany’s former Textile Care and Colloidal Technologies Group (“CTG’) operating segments are now part of the
Water operating segment w hich continues to rermain in the Global Industrial reportable segment. Additionally, the Pest Hinnation operating
segment, formerly aggregated with the Textile Care and CTG operating segments within Other, is now reported as the stand-alone Global Pest
Hinination reportable segment. The Conpany mede other immaterial changes, including the moverrent of certain customers and cost allocations
betw een reportable segments. These changes are presented in "Other" colurms of the table below . Prior period amounts have been recast to
conformw ith current period presentation.

The Conpany evaluates the performance of its non-U.S. dollar functional currency international operations based on fixed currency exchange
rates, w hich elinnates the inpact of exchange rate fluctuations on its international operations. Fixed currency anounts are updated annually at
the beginning of each year based on translation into U.S. dollars at foreign currency exchange rates established by managenent, with all periods
presented using such rates. The “Fixed Currency Rate Change” colurm shown in the following table reflects international operations at fixed
currency exchange rates established by management at the beginning of 2024, rather than the 2023 established rates. The difference between
the fixed currency exchange rates and the actual currency exchange rates is reported within the “BEffect of foreign currency translation” row in
the following table.

The inpact of the preceding changes on previously reported full year 2023 reportable segment net sales and operating incone is sunmmarized as
follows:

December 31, 2023

2023 Reported Fixed 2023 Reported
Valued at 2023 Currency Valued at 2024
(millions) Managenent Rates Other Rate Change  Managenent Rates
Net Sales
Global Industrial $7,193.1 $407.3 $40.1 $7,640.5
Global Institutional & Specialty 4,994.0 - 20.6 5,014.6
Global Healthcare & Life Sciences 1,576.9 - 30.6 1,607.5
Global Pest Hinination - 1,061.5 8.7 1,070.2
Other 1,442.3 (1,442.3) - -
Corporate 69.1 (26.5) 0.1 42.7
Subtotal at fixed currency rates 15,275.4 - 100.1 15,375.5
Hfect of foreign currency translation 44.8 (100.1) (55.3)
Consolidated reported GAAP net sales $15,320.2 $- $- $15,320.2
Operating Income
Global Industrial $1,080.7 $39.0 $23 $1,122.0
Global Institutional & Specialty 823.0 14.9 39 841.8
Global Healthcare & Life Sciences 160.0 (6.7) 75 160.8
Global Pest Hinrination - 209.0 14 2104
Other 255.0 (255.0) - -
Corporate (331.7) (1.2) 0.1 (332.8)
Subtotal at fixed currency rates 1,987.0 - 15.2 2,002.2
Hfect of foreign currency translation 5.3 - (15.2) (9.9)
Consolidated reported GAAP operating income $1,992.3 $ $ $1,992.3
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Reportable Segment Information

Financial information for the Corrpany’s reportable segments, is as follow's:

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(rrillions) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Net Sales
Global Industrial $1,956.0 $1,906.4 $3,797.7 $3,714.6
Global Institutional & Specialty 1,372.7 1,273.7 2,643.0 2,404.9
Global Healthcare & Life Sciences 395.0 395.3 777.9 7814
Global Pest Himination 2971 269.7 563.9 514.3
Corporate - 10.6 - 21.3
Subtotal at fixed currency rates 4,020.8 3,855.7 7,782.5 7.436.5
Effect of foreign currency translation (35.0) (3.6) (44.8) (12.8)
Consolidated reported GAAP net sales $3,985.8 $3,852.1 $7,737.7 $7,423.7
Operating Income
Global Industrial $311.9 $264.9 $576.9 $484.7
Global Institutional & Specialty 320.7 2134 568.7 3435
Global Healthcare & Life Sciences 337 33.2 70.7 68.6
Global Pest Himrination 62.2 524 111.0 9.9
Corporate (62.8) (79.3) (142.6) (156.7)
Subtotal at fixed currency rates 665.7 484.6 1,184.7 837.0
Hfect of foreign currency translation (8.8) 0.1 (9.9) (0.7)
Consolidated reported GAAP operating incone $656.9 $484.7 $1,174.8 $836.3

The profitability of the Conpany’s operating segments is evaluated by management based on operating income.

Consistent with the Conpany’s internal management reporting, Corporate amounts in the table above include sales to ChanpionX in accordance
with the transitional supply agreenment entered into with the Transaction, as discussed in Note 15. Corporate also includes intangible asset
anrtization specifically fromthe Nalco and Rurolite acquisitions and special (gains) and charges, as discussed in Note 3, that are not allocated
to the Corrpany’s reportable segments.

17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Conrpany is subject to various claims and contingencies related to, among other things, workers’ conpensation, general liability (including
product liability), autormobile claims, health care claims, environmental metters and law suits. The Conpany is also subject to various claims and
contingencies related to income taxes. The Corrpany also has contractual obligations including lease conmmitrrents.

The Conrpany records liabilities when a contingent loss is probable and can be reasonably estimated. If the reasonable estimate of a probable
loss is a range, the Conpany records the most probable estimate of the loss or the minimumanount when no amount within the range is a better
estimate than any other amount. The Conpany discloses a contingent liability even if the liability is not probable or the amount is not estimable, or
both, if there is a reasonable possibility that a material loss may have been incurred.

Insurance

Globally, the Corrpany has insurance policies with varying deductible levels for property and casualty losses. The Corrpany is insured for losses
in excess of these deductibles, subject to policy terms and conditions and has recorded both a liability and an offsetting receivable for anmounts
in excess of these deductibles. The Conrpany is self-insured for health care clains for eligible participating enployees, subject to certain
deductibles and limitations. The Corrpany deternrines its liabilities for claims on an actuarial basis.

Litigation and Environmental Matters

The Conpany and certain subsidiaries are party to various law suits, clains and environmental actions that have arisen in the ordinary course of
business. These include fromtime to time antitrust, enployment, conmmercial, patent infringement, tort, product liability and wage hour law suits, as
well as possible obligations to investigate and mritigate the effects on the environment of the disposal or release of certain chemical substances
at various sites, such as Superfund sites and other operating or closed facilities. The Conpany has established accruals for certain law suits,
clains and environmental matters. The Conpany currently believes that there is not a reasonably possible risk of material loss in excess of the
ampunts accrued related to these legal matters. Because litigation is inherently uncertain, and unfavorable rulings or developments could occur,
there can be no certainty that the Commpany may not ultimately incur charges in excess of recorded liabilities. A future adverse ruling, settlement
or unfavorable development could result in future charges that could have a material adverse effect on the Conpany’s results of operations or
cash flows in the period in w hich they are recorded.

The Conpany currently believes that such future charges related to suits and legal clains, if any, would not have a material adverse effect on
the Conpany’s consolidated financial position.




TPC Group Litigation

On Noverrber 27, 2019, a Butadiene production plant ow ned and operated by TRC Group, Inc. in Port Neches, Texas, experienced an explosion
and fire that resulted in personal injuries, the release of chemical fumes and extensive property damage to the plant and surrounding areas in
and near Port Neches, Texas.

Nalco Conpany LLC, a subsidiary of Ecolab, supplied process chemicals to TRC used in TRC's production processes. Nalco did not operate,
manage, maintain or control any aspect of TRCs plant operations.

In connection with its provision of process chenicals to TRC, Nalco was named in nurrerous law suits stenming fromthe plant explosion. Nalco
has been named a defendant, along with TRC and other defendants, in multi-district litigation (“MDL”) proceedings pending in Orange County,
Texas, alleging anong other things clains for personal injury, property damage and business losses (In re TRC Group Litigation — A2020-0236-
MDL, Orange County, Texas). Numerous other law suits w ere filed against Nalco, including TRC Group v. Nalco, ED208239, Jefferson County,
Texas, a subrogation claimby TRCs insurers seeking reimbursement for property damege losses. Over 5,000 plaintiffs (including the subrogation
metter) asserted claims against Nalco. All claims have been consolidated for pretrial purposes into the MDL.

All of these cases meke sinilar allegations and seek damages for personal injury, property damage, business losses and other damages,
including exenplary dameges. Due to the large number of plaintiffs, the early stage of the litigation and the fact that many of the claims do not
specify an amount of dameges, any estimate of any loss or range of losses cannot be made at this time.

On June 1, 2022, TRC and seven of its affiliated conpanies filed for bankruptcy under Chapter 11 (Case No. 22-10493-CTG, United States
Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaw are). In connection with the bankruptcy cases, TPC disclosed an estimated range of its liability related
to the Port Neches incident to individuals and homeow ners (including subrogation clains) of approximately $152 million to $520 million. As part of
their bankruptcy plan, TRC and its affiliates announced a settlement w hich allow's the MDL plaintiffs a $500 million claimsolely for purposes of
claimallow ance in the chapter 11 case and distribution of value pursuant to TRCs bankruptcy plan. Other key terns of the settlemment between
TRC and the MDL plaintiffs include the establishment of a settlement trust for the benefit of certain general unsecured creditors, which is funded
with $30 nrillion and the assignment of TRC's claims and causes of action, if any, against certain third parties, including Nalco, related to the TRC
plant explosion. As part of the bankruptcy process, TRC and its debtor affiliates received a discharge of all MDL related clains, as did certain
non-debtor affiliates to the extent third parties did not opt out of the non-debtor releases. As a result, TRCis no longer a defendant in the VDL.
Nalco opted out of these releases, preserving any direct causes of action it may have against non-debtors. Furthernore, the allowance of the
$500 mrillion claimshould have no effect on any claims or defenses asserted against or by Nalco in the VDL litigation. On Decenber 1, 2022, the
bankruptcy court confirmed the TPC bankruptcy plan, including the approval of the settlement and establishment of the aforementioned settlement
trust. On Decenber 16, 2022, the TRC bankruptcy plan went effective. As a result of the bankruptcy, the MDL was stayed. The stay was lifted in
the fourth quarter of 2023 and various activities advancing discovery have resumed.

The Conrpany believes the claims asserted against Nalco in the law suits stenmring fromthe TRC plant explosion are without merit and intends to
defend the clains vigorously. The Conpany also believes any potential loss should be covered by insurance subject to deductibles. How ever,
the Conpany cannot predict the outcome of these law suits, the involverment the Conpany nright have in these metters in the future or the
potential for future litigation.

Environmental Matters
The Conpany is currently participating in environmental assessnents and remediation at approximately 25 locations, the majority of which are in

the U.S., and environmental liabilities have been accrued reflecting management’s best estimate of future costs. Potential insurance
reimbursements are not anticipated in the Company’s accruals for environmental liabilities.
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18. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Standards That Are Not Yet Adopted:

Date of Effect on the
Standard Description Adoption Financial Statements
ASU 2023-09 Income taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to The amendments in this Update January 1, The Company is currently
Income Tax Disclosures require that public business entities on 2025 evaluating the impact of
an annual basis (1) disclose specific adoption and additional
categories in the rate reconciliation disclosure requirements.
and (2) provide additional information
for reconciling items that meet a
quantitative threshold.
ASU 2023-07 - Segment Reporting (Topic 280): The amendments in this ASU are to Effective  Entities are required to apply
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures improve the disclosures about forannual  the disclosure amendments
reportable segments and add more periods on a retrospective basis to all
detailed information about a reportable  beginning  periods presented. The
segment’s expenses. The after Company is currently
amendments in the ASU require public ~ December  evaluating the impact of
entities to disclose on an annual and 15,2023  adoption.

interim basis significant segment
expenses that are regularly provided
to the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM’) and included within each
reported measure of segment profit or
loss, other segment items by
reportable segment, the title and
position of the CODM and an
explanation of howthe CODM uses
the reported measures of segment
profit or loss in assessing segment
performance and deciding how to
allocate resources. The ASU does not
change the definition of a segment,
the method for determining segments,
the criteria for aggregating operating
segments into reportable segments, or
the current specifically enumerated
segment expenses that are required to
be disclosed.

No other new accounting pronouncenrents issued or effective have had or are expected to have a material impact on the Conpany’s

consolidated financial staterments.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Ecolab Inc.
Results of Review of Interim Financial Statements

We have review ed the acconpanying consolidated balance sheet of Ecolab Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Conpany”) as of June 30, 2024, and
the related consolidated statements of incorme, cormprehensive income, and equity for the three-month and six-nonth periods ended June 30,
2024 and 2023 and the consolidated statements of cash flow's for the six-month periods ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, including the related
notes (collectively referred to as the “interimfinancial statemments”). Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that
should be made to the acconpanying interimfinancial statements for themto be in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of Amrerica.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Cormpany Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheet of the Corpany as of Decenrber 31, 2023, and the related consolidated statements of income, conprehensive
income, equity and cash flowss for the year then ended (not presented herein), and in our report dated February 23, 2024, we expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statemments. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accormpanying consolidated balance
sheet information as of Decenrber 31, 2023, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet fromwhich it has
been derived.

Basis for Review Results

These interimfinancial staterents are the responsibility of the Cormpany’s management. We are a public accounting firmregistered with the Public
Conpany Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (FCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Conpany in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Comission and the FCAOB. We
conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the PFCAOB. A review of interimfinancial information consists principally of applying
analytical procedures and meking inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting metters. It is substantially less in scope than an
audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the RCAOB, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial
statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

/sl Pricew aterhouseCoopers LLP
Mnneapolis, Mnnesota
August 2, 2024




Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) provides information we believe is useful in understanding our operating results,
cash flows and financial condition. Ve provide quantitative or qualitative information about the meterial sales drivers including the inpact of
changes in volume and pricing and the effect of acquisitions and changes in foreign currency at the corporate and reportable segment level. We
also provide quantitative information regarding special (gains) and charges, discrete tax items and other significant factors we believe are useful
for understanding our results. Such quantitative drivers are supported by comments meant to be qualitative in nature. Qualitative factors are
generally ordered based on estimated significance.

The MD&A should be read in conjunction with both the unaudited consolidated financial information and related notes included in this Form10-Q,
and Managerrent's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended Decerrber 31, 2023. This discussion contains various Non-GAAP Financial Measures and also contains various Forw ard-Looking
Staterrents within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation ReformAct of 1995. We refer readers to the statemrents entitled “Non-GAAP
Financial Measures” and “Forw ard-Looking Staterrents” located at the end of Part | of this report.

Comparability of Results
Impact of Acquisitions and Divestitures

QOur non-GAAPfinancial measures for organic sales, organic operating income and organic operating income mergin are at fixed currency and
exclude the impact of special (gains) and charges, the results of our acquired businesses fromthe first twelve nmonths post acquisition and the
results of divested businesses fromthe twelve nonths prior to divestiture. As part of the separation of ChanpionX in 2020, we entered into an
agreement with ChanpionX to provide, receive or transfer certain products for a transitionary period. Transitionary period sales of product to
ChanrpionX under this agreement are recorded in product and equipment sales in the Corporate segment along with the related cost of sales. The
remaining sales to ChanpionX are recorded in product and equiprrent sales in the Global Industrial segment along with the related cost of sales.
These transactions are renmoved fromthe consolidated results as part of the calculation of the inpact of acquisitions and divestitures.

Comparability of Reportable Segments

Hfective January 1, 2024, the former Textile Care and Colloidal Technologies Group (“CTG’) operating segments are now part of the Water
operating segment w hich continues to remein in the Global Industrial reportable segment. Additionally, the Pest Hinination operating segment,
formerly aggregated with the Textile Care and CTG operating segments within Other, is now reported as the stand-alone Global Pest Himination
reportable segment. WWe made other immaterial changes, including the movement of certain custormers and cost allocations betw een reportable
segments. After these changes, we have eight operating segments.

Fixed Currency Foreign Exchange Rates

Managenent evaluates the sales and operating income performance of our non-U.S. dollar functional currency international operations based on
fixed currency exchange rates, w hich eliminate the inmpact of exchange rate fluctuations on our international operations. Fixed currency anounts
are updated annually at the beginning of each year based on translation into U.S. dollars at foreign currency exchange rates established by
managenent, with all periods presented using such rates. Public currency rate data provided within the “Segment Rerformance” section of this
IVD8A reflect amounts translated at actual public average rates of exchange prevailing during the corresponding period and is provided for
informational purposes only.

OVERVIEW OF THE SECOND QUARTER ENDED JUNE 30, 2024
Sales Performance
When corrparing second quarter 2024 against second quarter 2023, sales performance was as follows:

e  Reported net sales increased 3% to $3,985.8 nillion and organic sales increased 4%.

e Organic sales for our Gobal Industrial segment increased 2% to $1,934.9 million driven by accelerating Water sales growth.

e  Organic sales for our Gobal Institutional & Specialty segnment increased 7% to $1,358.8 million as the segment lapped last year’s double-digit
growth.

e  Organic sales for our Gobal Healthcare & Life Sciences segment were stable at $395.0 million as better growth in Life Sciences offset
nodestly low er Healthcare sales.

e Organic sales for Goobal Pest Bimination increased 9% to $295.0 million.




Financial Performance

When corrparing second quarter 2024 against second quarter 2023, our financial performance was as follows:

e Reported operating income increased 36% to $656.9 million. Organic operating income increased 32%.

e  Netincome attributable to Ecolab increased 49% to $490.9 million. Excluding the inpact of special (gains) and charges and discrete tax items
fromboth 2024 and 2023 reported resuits, our adjusted net income attributable to Ecolab increased 35%.

e  Reported diluted BPS increased 49% to $1.71. Excluding the inpact of special (gains) and charges and discrete tax itens fromboth 2024
and 2023 reported results, adjusted diluted BPS increased 35% to $1.68 in the second quarter of 2024.

e  Qur reported tax rate was 16.2% during the second quarter of 2024, conpared to 20.6% during the second quarter of 2023. Excluding the
tax rate impact of special (gains) and charges and discrete tax itens fromboth 2024 and 2023 results, our adjusted tax rate was 19.5%
during the second quarter of 2024, conpared to 19.9% during the second quarter of 2023.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Net Sales
Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(millions) 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change
Product and equipment sales $3,173.1 $3,104.8 $6,159.6 $5,981.1
Service and lease sales 812.7 747.3 1,578.1 1,442.6
Reported GAAP net sales 3,985.8 3,852.1 3% 7,731.7 74237 4%
Hfect of foreign currency translation 35.0 3.6 44.8 12.8
Non-GAAPfixed currency sales 4,020.8 3,855.7 4% 7,782.5 7,436.5 5%
Hfect of acquisitions and divestitures (37.1) (16.7) (81.2) (40.7)
Non-GAAP organic sales $3,983.7 $3,839.0 4% $7,701.3 $7,395.8 4%

Product and sold equipment revenue is generated from providing cleaning, sanitizing and w ater treatment products or selling equiprent used in
combination with specialized products. Service and lease equiprent revenue is generated fromproviding services or leasing equipment to
custorrers. All of our sales are subject to the same econorric conditions.

The percentage commponents of the period-over-period 2024 sales change are shown below:

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(percent) 2024 2024
Volume 1% 1%
Rricing 3 3
Organic sales change 4 4
Acquisitions and divestitures 1 1
Fixed currency sales change 4 5
Foreign currency translation (1) -
Reported GAAP net sales change 3% 4%
Anmounts do not necessarily sumdue to rounding.
Cost of Sales (“COS”) and Gross Profit Margin
Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2024 2023 2024 2023
Gross Gross Gross Gross
(rrillions/percent) QoS Margin QoS Margin oS Margin QoS Margin
Product and equipment cost of sales $1,770.6 $1,895.3 $3,449.8 $3,693.6
Service and lease cost of sales 4704 439.5 919.3 846.4
Reported GAAP COS and gross margin 22410 438% | 23348 394% | 43691 435% | 45400 388%
Special (gains) and charges 0.7 8.1 2.3 11.3
Non-GAAP adjusted COS and gross nmargin $2,240.3 438 % | $2326.7 396 % | $4,366.8 43.6 % | $4,5287 39.0 %

QOur COS and corresponding gross profit margin (“gross margin”) are shown in the table above. Gross margin is defined as net sales less cost of

sales divided by net sales.
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Qur reported gross margin was 43.8% and 39.4% for the second quarter of 2024 and 2023, respectively. Our reported gross margin was 43.5%
and 38.8% for the first six nonths of 2024 and 2023, respectively. Special (gains) and charges included in iterrs impacting cost of sales are
show n within the “Special (Gains) and Charges” table below .

Bxcluding the inpact of special (gains) and charges within COS, second quarter 2024 and 2023 adjusted gross margin was 43.8% and 39.6%,
respectively, and for the first six nonths of 2024 and 2023 was 43.6% and 39.0%, respectively.

Qur adjusted gross margin increased w hen conparing the second quarter of 2024 against the second quarter of 2023 reflecting low er supply
chain costs and strong pricing.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses as a percentage of sales were 27.0% and 27.8% for the second quarter and first six
nonths of 2024, respectively, conpared to 26.3% and 27.0% for the second quarter and first six nonths of 2023, respectively. The SG&A ratio
to sales in the second quarter of 2024 increased as sales productivity was offset by grow th-oriented investments in the business.

Special (Gains) and Charges

Special (gains) and charges reported on the Consolidated Staterrents of Income include the follow ing items:

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(mrillions) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Cost of sales
Restructuring activities $0.7 $8.1 $2.3 $11.3
Cost of sales subtotal 0.7 8.1 23 1.3
Special (gains) and charges
Restructuring activities 6.9 13.7 25.0 26.3
Sale of global surgical solutions business 7.3 - 13.3 -
Acquisition and integration activities 23 35 4.8 85
Other (4.3 3.8 (2.7) 10.7
Special (gains) and charges subtotal 12.2 21.0 404 455
Total special (gains) and charges $12.9 $29.1 $42.7 $56.8

For segment reporting purposes, special (gains) and charges are not allocated to reportable segments, which is consistent with our internal
managenent reporting.

Restructuring activities

Restructuring activities are primarily related to the Conbined Frogramw hich is described below . These activities have been included as a
conponent of cost of sales and special (gains) and charges on the Consolidated Staterrents of Income. Restructuring liabilities have been
classified as a conponent of other current and other noncurrent liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Further details related to our restructuring charges are included in Note 3.
Combined Program

In Novenber 2022, w e approved a Europe cost savings program In February 2023, we expanded our previously announced Europe cost
savings programto focus on its Institutional and Healthcare businesses in other regions. In connection with the expanded program (“the
Comrbined Progrant’), we expect to incur total pre-tax charges of $195 million ($150 million after tax) or $0.52 per diluted share. We expect that
these restructuring charges will be substantially conpleted by the end of 2024. Programactions include headcount reductions fromterminations,
not filling certain open positions, and facility closures. The Cormbined Programcharges are expected to be primerily cash expenditures related to
severance and asset disposals.

In anticipation of this Corrbined Program a linrited number of actions were taken in the fourth quarter of 2022. As a result, we reclassified $19.3
million ($14.5 million after tax) or $0.05 per diluted share fromother restructuring to the Conrbined Programin the first quarter of 2023.
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During the second quarter of 2024 and 2023, we recorded total Corrbined Programrestructuring charges of $2.3 million ($1.4 rrillion after tax) or
$0.01 per diluted share and $19.7 rrillion ($16.2 rrillion after tax) or $0.06 per diluted share, respectively, and during the first six months of 2024
and 2023, recorded $22.0 rrillion ($17.2 million after tax) or $0.06 per diluted share and $33.1 million ($26.4 million after tax) or $0.09 per diluted
share, respectively, primerily related to severance. We recorded $180.9 million ($150.1 rrillion after tax), or $0.52 per diluted share of cunulative
charges under the Conrbined Fan.

We reclassified $5.3 million ($4.0 million after tax) or $0.01 per diluted share fromthe conrbined restructuring programto other restructuring in the
second quarter of 2024.

The net liability related to the Conbined Programwas $32.2 mrillion and $43.1 million as of June 30, 2024 and Decenber 31, 2023, respectively.
The remaining liability is expected to be paid over a period of a few nonths to several quarters and will continue to be funded fromoperating
activities.

The Corrbined Programhas delivered $159 million of cumulative cost savings with estimated annualized cost savings of $175 million in continuing
operations by 2024.

Other Restructuring Activities

During 2024, we incurred restructuring charges of $10.6 million ($8.0 mrillion after tax) or $0.03 per diluted share related to an imaterial
restructuring plan approved in the second quarter.

The restructuring liability balance for all other restructuring plans excluding the Corrbined Programw as $9.0 million as of the end of the second
quarter.

One Ecolab

On July 30, 2024, we announced the One Ecolab initiative, w hich will enhance our grow th and margin expansion journey. As a programw thin
this initiative, we also announced that we commenced a restructuring plan to leverage our digital technologies to realign the functional work done
in many countries into global centers of excellence. We anticipate restructuring costs of $175 million ($136 illion after tax) and special charges
of $50 million ($39 million after tax) by the end of 2027. We anticipate that the restructuring costs will primarily be cash expenditures for
severance costs relating to teamreorganization.

We expect total programsavings of approximetely $140 million by 2027. Actual costs may vary fromthese estimates depending on actions taken.
Sale of global surgical solutions business

On April 27, 2024, we reached a definitive agreement to sell our global surgical solutions business. We recorded charges of $7.3 million ($3.1
million gain after tax) or ($0.01) per diluted share and $13.3 million ($1.4 rrillion after tax) or $0.01 per diluted share in the second quarter and first
six months of 2024, respectively, which are primerily related to professional fees to support the sale. The tax benefit is driven by a reduction to
our valuation allow ance on capital loss carryforwards.

Acquisition and integration related costs

Acquisition and integration related costs reported in special (gains) and charges on the Consolidated Staterrents of Income include $2.3 million
($1.7 million after tax) or less than $0.01 per diluted share and $3.5 million ($2.7 rrillion after tax) or $0.01 per diluted share in the second quarter
of 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $4.8 million ($3.6 million after tax) or $0.01 per diluted share and $8.5 million ($6.4 million after tax) or $0.02
per diluted share in the first six months of 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Other operating activities

Other special charges recorded in special (gains) and charges on the Consolidated Statements of Income in the second quarter of 2024 and
2023 were ($4.3 nillion) ($3.1 mrillion gain after tax) or ($0.01) per diluted share and $3.8 million ($2.8 nrillion after tax) or $0.01 per diluted share,
respectively, and in the first six nonths of 2024 and 2023 were ($2.7 million) ($2.2 million gain after tax) or ($0.01) per diluted share and $10.7
million ($8.2 rrillion after tax) or $0.03 per diluted share, respectively, primarily related to recoveries of COVID era credits, professional fees and
certain legal charges.
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Operating Income and Operating Income Margin

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(rrillions) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Reported GAAP operating income $656.9 $484.7 (36 % $1,174.8 $836.3 |40 %
Special (gains) and charges 12.9 29.1 42.7 56.8
Non-GAAP adjusted operating income 669.8 5138 |30 % 1,217.5 8931 |36 %
Hfect of foreign currency translation 8.7 0.1) 9.9 0.7
Non-GAAP adjusted fixed currency operating income 678.5 513.7 (32 % 1,227.4 8938 |37 %
Hfect of acquisitions and divestitures (1.5) (0.9 (2.4) (1.4)
Non-GAAP organic operating income $677.0 $512.8 |32 % $1,225.0 $892.4 |37 %
Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(percent) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Reported GAAP operating income margin 16.5 % 12.6 % 15.2 % 11.3 %
Non-GAAP adjusted operating income margin 16.8 % 13.3 % 15.7 % 120 %
Non-GAAP adjusted fixed currency operating income margin 16.9 % 13.3 % 15.8 % 120 %
Non-GAAP organic operating income margin 17.0 % 134 % 15.9 % 121 %

Qur operating income and corresponding operating income mergin are shown in the previous tables. Operating income margin is defined as
operating income divided by net sales.

Qur reported operating income increased 36% and 40% in the second quarter and first six nonths of 2024, respectively, versus the conparable
periods of 2023. Our reported operating income for 2024 and 2023 was inpacted by special (gains) and charges; excluding the inpact of special
(gains) and charges from2024 and 2023 reported resuts, our adjusted operating income increased 30% and 36% in the second quarter and first
six months of 2024, respectively.

As shown in the previous table, foreign currency had a 2 and 1 percentage point inpact on adjusted operating income grow th for the second
quarter and first six months of 2024, respectively. Foreign currency had a 2 and 3 percentage point inpact on adjusted operating income growth
for the second quarter and first six months of 2023, respectively.

Other (Income) Expense

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(millions) 2024 2023 |Change 2024 2023 [Change
Reported GAAP other (income) expense ($12.6) ($14.4) | (13)% ($25.2) ($27.5) | (8)%

Reported other (income) expense decreased to ($12.6) million from($14.4) nillion in the second quarter of 2024 conrpared to the second quarter
of 2023, respectively, and decreased to ($25.2) nillion from ($27.5) million in the first six months of 2024 conpared to the first six nonths of
2023, respectively, driven by higher pension costs.

Interest Expense, Net

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(millions) 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change
Reported GAAP interest expense, net $78.8 $77.8 1% $150.4 $1520 | (1)%

Reported net interest expense was stable at $78.8 million and $77.8 million in the second quarter of 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $150.4
million and $152.0 million in the first six months of 2024 and 2023, respectively.




Provision for Income Taxes

The following table provides a summary of our tax rate:

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30

(percent) 2024 2023 2024 2023
Reported GAAPtax rate 16.2 % 20.6 % 131 % 19.5 %
Tax rate inpact of:

Special (gains) and charges 1.6 0.1) 1.2 0.2

Discrete tax itenms 1.7 (0.6) 54 0.2
Non-GAAP adjusted tax rate 19.5 % 19.9 % 19.7 % 19.9 %

QOur reported tax rate was 16.2% and 20.6% for the second quarter of 2024 and 2023, respectively, and 13.1% and 19.5% for the first six
nonths of 2024 and 2023, respectively. The change in our tax rate for the second quarter and first six months of 2024 versus the conparable
periods of 2023 was driven primarily by discrete tax itens and special (gains) and charges. The change in our tax rate includes the tax inpact of
special (gains) and charges and discrete tax itens, w hich have inpacted the conparability of our historical reported tax rates, as armounts
included in our special (gains) and charges are derived fromtax jurisdictions with rates that vary fromour tax rate, and discrete tax iterrs are not
necessarily consistent across periods. The tax inpact of special (gains) and charges and discrete tax iters will likely continue to impact
conparability of our reported tax rate in the future.

We recognized net tax benefits related to discrete tax itemms of $10.3 million and $58.5 million in the second quarter and first six months of 2024,
respectively. This included a tax benefit of $41.9 rrillion in the first six months of 2024, associated with transferring certain intangible property
betw een affiliates and $3.7 million and $12.3 million in the second quarter and first six months of 2024, respectively, associated with share-
based compensation excess tax benefits. The remaining net benefit of $6.6 million and $4.3 million in the second quarter and first six months of
2024, respectively, is fromother income tax adjustrrents including the inpact of changes in tax law's, audit seftlements, unrecognized tax
benefits and other changes in estimates.

We recognized net tax expense related to discrete tax itens of $2.8 million and a net tax benefit of $1.2 mrillion in the second quarter and first six
months of 2023, respectively. This included share-based conpensation excess tax benefits of $1.8 million and $1.9 million in the second quarter
and first six months of 2023, respectively. Additionally, we recognized net tax expense related to discrete tax itens of $4.6 million and $0.7
nillion in the second quarter and first six nonths of 2023, respectively, primarily due to audit settlements, uncertain tax positions, prior year return
adjustments, repricing of deferred tax balances, and other changes in estimates.

The Organization for Econorric Co-operation’s (“OECD’) global mininumtax regime (“Rllar Two”) becanre effective in certain countries where we

operate starting in 2024. As such, an estimate of Fllar Two tax has been considered within the provision for incorme taxes. We continue to
nonitor these legislative developrments, but based on informeation available w e do not anticipate meterial impacts to the 2024 financial statements.

Net Income Attributable to Ecolab

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(mrillions) 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change
Reported GAAP net incorre attributable to Ecolab $490.9 $329.7 49 % $903.0 $563.1 60 %
Adjustrrents:
Special (gains) and charges, after tax 0.9 233 24.0 444
Discrete tax net expense (10.3) 2.8 (58.5) (1.2)
Non-GAAP adjusted net incone attributable to Ecolab $481.5 $355.8 35 % $868.5 $606.3 43 %
Diluted EPS
Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(dollars) 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change
Reported GAAP diluted BPS $1.71 $1.15 49 % $3.14 $1.97 59 %
Adjustrents:
Special (gains) and charges, after tax - 0.08 0.08 0.15
Discrete tax net expense (0.03) 0.01 (0.20) -
Non-GAAP adjusted diluted BPS $1.68 $1.24 35 % $3.02 $2.12 42 %

Per share armounts in the above tables do not necessary sumdue to rounding.

CQurrency translation had an unfavorable inpact of approximately ($0.04) and ($0.05) per share on diluted BPS for the second quarter and first
six nonths of 2024, respectively, w hen conrpared to the conparable period of 2023.




SEGMENT PERFORMANCE

The non-U.S. dollar functional international anounts included within our reportable segments are based on translation into U.S. dollars at the fixed
currency exchange rates used by managenent for 2024. The difference betw een the fixed currency exchange rates and the actual currency
exchange rates is reported as “effect of foreign currency translation” in the following tables. All other accounting policies of the reportable
segments are consistent with U.S. GAAPand the accounting policies described in Note 3 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2023. Additional information about our reportable segrents is included in Note 16.

Fixed currency net sales and operating income for the second quarter and first six months of 2024 for our reportable segments are shown in the

following tables:

Net Sales Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(rrllions) 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change
Global Industrial $1,956.0 $1,906.4 3% $3,797.7 $3,714.6 2%
Global Institutional & Specialty 1,372.7 1,2737 8 2,643.0 2,404.9 10
Global Healthcare & Life Sciences 395.0 395.3 0 777.9 7814 0
Global Pest Himrination 2971 269.7 10 563.9 514.3 10
Corporate - 10.6 (100) - 21.3 (100)
Subtotal at fixed currency 4,020.8 3,855.7 4 7,782.5 7.436.5 5
HEfect of foreign currency translation (35.0) (3.6) (44.8) (12.8)
Consolidated reported GAAP net sales $3,985.8 $3,852.1 3 % $7,737.7 $7,423.7 4%
Operating Income Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
(rrllions) 2024 2023 Change 2024 2023 Change
Global Industrial $311.9 $264.9 18 % $576.9 $484.7 19 %
Global Institutional & Specialty 320.7 2134 50 568.7 3435 66
Global Healthcare & Life Sciences 33.7 33.2 2 70.7 68.6 3
Global Pest Himrination 62.2 524 19 111.0 9%.9 15
Corporate (62.8) (79.3) (21) (142.6) (156.7) (9)
Subtotal at fixed currency 665.7 484.6 37 1,184.7 837.0 42
Hfect of foreign currency translation (8.8) 0.1 (9.9) (0.7)
Consolidated reported GAAP operating income $656.9 $484.7 36 % $1,174.8 $836.3 40 %
The following tables reconcile the impact of acquisitions and divestitures within our reportable segments:
Second Quarter Ended
June 30
Net Sales 2024 2023
Impact of Impact of
Acquisitions Acquisitions
Fixed and Fixed and
(millions) CQurrency Divestitures Organic | Currency Divestitures  Organic
Global Industrial $1,956.0 ($21.1) $1,934.9 | $1,906.4 ($6.1) $1,900.3
Global Institutional & Specialty 1,372.7 (13.9) 1,358.8 1,273.7 - 12737
Global Healthcare & Life Sciences 395.0 - 395.0 395.3 - 395.3
Global Pest Hinrination 2971 (21) 295.0 269.7 - 269.7
Corporate - - 10.6 (10.6) -
Subtotal at fixed currency 4,020.8 (37.1) 39837 3,855.7 (16.7)  3,839.0
Hfect of foreign currency translation (35.0) (3.6)
Consolidated reported GAAP net sales $3,985.8 $3,852.1
Operating Income 2024 2023
Inrpact of Inpact of
Acquisitions Acquisitions
Fixed and Fixed and
(rrillions) Qurrency Divestitures  Organic | CQurrency Divestitures — Organic
Global Industrial $311.9 ($1.1)  $310.8 $264.9 ($0.5) %2644
Global Institutional & Specialty 320.7 (1.0) 319.7 2134 - 2134
Global Healthcare & Life Sciences 33.7 - 337 332 - 332
Global Pest Himination 62.2 0.6 62.8 524 - 524
Corporate (50.0) - (50.0) (50.2) (04) (50.6)
Non-GAAP adjusted fixed currency operating income 678.5 (1.5) 677.0 5137 (0.9) 512.8
Special (gains) and charges 12.8 291
Subtotal at fixed currency 665.7 484.6
Efect of foreign currency translation (8.8) 0.1
Consolidated reported GAAP operating income $656.9 $484.7




Six Months Ended

June 30
Net Sales 2024 2023
Inrpact of Inpact of
Acquisitions Acquisitions
Fixed and Fixed and

(rrillions) Qurrency Divestitures  Organic | CQurrency Divestitures  Organic
Global Industrial $3,797.7 ($47.2) $3,750.5 | $3,714.6 ($194) $3,695.2
Global Institutional & Specialty 2,643.0 (31.9) 26111 2,404.9 - 24049
Global Healthcare & Life Sciences 777.9 - 777.9 7814 - 7814
Global Pest Himination 563.9 (21) 561.8 514.3 - 514.3
Corporate - - - 21.3 (21.3) -

Subtotal at fixed currency 7,782.5 (81.2) 7,701.3 7,436.5 (40.7) 7,395.8
Efect of foreign currency translation (44.8) (12.8)
Consolidated reported GAAP net sales $7,737.7 $7.4237
Operating Income 2024 2023

Inpact of Impact of
Acquisitions Acquisitions
Fixed and Fixed and

(rrillions) Qurrency Divestitures  Organic | Currency Divestitures — Organic
Global Industrial $576.9 ($1.1)  $575.8 $484.7 ($0.7)  $484.0
Global Institutional & Specialty 568.7 (1.9) 566.8 3435 - 3435
Global Healthcare & Life Sciences 70.7 - 70.7 68.6 - 68.6
Global Pest Himination 111.0 0.6 111.6 9.9 - 9.9
Corporate (99.9) - (99.9) (99.9) (0.7) (100.6)

Non-GAAP adjusted fixed currency operating income 1,227.4 (24) 1,225.0 893.8 (1.4) 8924

Special (gains) and charges 42.7 56.8

Subtotal at fixed currency 1,184.7 837.0

HEfect of foreign currency translation (9.9) (0.7)
Consolidated reported GAAP operating income $1,174.8 $836.3
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Unless otherwise noted, the following segment performance commentary conpares the second quarter and first six months of 2024 against the
second quarter and first six months of 2023.

Global Industrial

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2024 2023 2024 2023
Sales at fixed currency (rmillions) $1,956.0 $1,906.4 $3,797.7 $3,714.6
Sales at public currency (rillions) 1,936.5 1,909.5 3,775.7 3,718.6
Organic sales change 2% 1%
Acquisitions and divestitures 1% 1%
Fixed currency sales change 3% 2%
Foreign currency translation (1)% (1)%
Public currency sales change 1% 2%
Operating income at fixed currency (millions) $311.9 $264.9 $576.9 $484.7
Operating income at public currency (millions) 306.7 266.6 5721 487.9
Fixed currency operating income change 18 % 19 %
Fixed currency operating incorme margin 15.9 % 13.9 % 152 % 13.0 %
Organic operating income change 18 % 19 %
Organic operating income margin 16.1 % 13.9 % 15.4 % 131 %
Rublic currency operating income change 15 % 17 %

Percentages in the above table do not necessarily sumdue to rounding.
Net Sales
Organic sales for Global Industrial increased in the second quarter and first six nonths of 2024 driven by accelerating Water sales growth.

Water organic sales increased 4% and 3% in the second quarter and first six nonths of 2024, respectively, driven by strong growth in

dow nstreamand light water. Light water reported sales growth driven by strong high-tech (data centers and nicroelectronics) grow th and good
growth in the food & beverage, transportation, and institutional markets. Heavy industry recorded sales were stable as good growth in primary
metals was offset by modestly lower power sales. Dow nstreamindustry reported sales growth reflecting good performance across all
segments. Food & Beverage organic sales increased 0% and 1% in the second quarter and first six months of 2024, respectively, as good
new business was offset by soft industry demand. Paper organic sales decreased 1% and 3% in the second quarter and first six nonths of
2024, respectively, reflecting new business wins that were offset by soft but stabilizing custormer production rates.

Operating Income

Organic operating income and organic operating income margins both increased for Global Industrial in the second quarter and first six nonths of
2024, respectively.

Organic operating income margins increased 2.2 percentage points during the second quarter of 2024 as the 4.8 percentage point positive impact
of lower delivered product costs and strong pricing overcame the 2.3 percentage point inpact of investrrents in the business. Organic operating
income margins increased 2.3 percentage points during the first six months of 2024 as the 3.9 percentage point positive inpact of lower
delivered product costs overcame the 2.1 percentage point impact of investrrents in the business.




Global Institutional & Specialty

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2024 2023 2024 2023
Sales at fixed currency (millions) $1,372.7 $1,273.7 $2,643.0 $2,404.9
Sales at public currency (rillions) 1,363.9 1,272.2 2,630.6 2,401.0
Organic sales change 7% 9%
Acquisitions and divestitures 1% 1%
Fixed currency sales change 8% 10 %
Foreign currency translation (1)% - %
Public currency sales change 7% 10 %
Operating income at fixed currency (millions) $320.7 $2134 $568.7 $3435
Operating income at public currency (millions) 318.3 213.0 565.3 342.8
Fixed currency operating income change 50 % 66 %
Fixed currency operating incore margin 234 % 16.8 % 215% 14.3 %
Organic operating income change 50 % 65 %
Organic operating income margin 235% 16.8 % 21.7% 14.3 %
Public currency operating income change 49 % 65 %

Percentages in the above table do not necessarily sumdue to rounding.
Net Sales

Organic sales for Gobal Institutional & Specialty increased in the second quarter and first six months of 2024, with strong growth in both the
Institutional and Specialty divisions.

At an operating segrent level, Institutional organic sales increased 7% and 9% in the second quarter and first six months of 2024,
respectively, reflecting sales growth across foodservice, lodging and long termcare. Specialty organic sales increased 6% and 8% in the
second quarter and first six months of 2024, respectively, reflecting sales growth driven by quick service and food retail.

Operating Income

Organic operating income and organic operating income margin both increased in the second quarter and first six nonths of 2024 for our Gobal
Institutional & Specialty segment.

Organic operating income margins increased 6.7 percentage points during the second quarter of 2024, as the 8.3 percentage point positive
impact fromlow er supply chain costs, strong pricing and higher volumes overcame the 1.9 percentage point inpact frominvestrrents in the
business. Organic operating income margins increased 7.4 percentage points during the first six nonths of 2024, as the 9.5 percentage point
positive inpact fromlow er supply chain costs, strong pricing and higher volumes overcarre the 1.5 percentage point inpact frominvestments in
the business.
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Global Healthcare & Life Sciences

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2024 2023 2024 2023
Sales at fixed currency (millions) $395.0 $395.3 $777.9 $781.4
Sales at public currency (rillions) 389.7 390.8 769.6 770.5
Organic sales change 0% 0%
Acquisitions and divestitures =% - %
Fixed currency sales change 0% 0%
Foreign currency translation - % - %
Public currency sales change 0% 0%
Operating income at fixed currency (millions) $33.7 $33.2 $70.7 $68.6
Operating income at public currency (millions) 325 320 68.8 65.7
Fixed currency operating income change 2% 3%
Fixed currency operating incore margin 8.5 % 84 % 9.1 % 8.8 %
Organic operating income change 2% 3%
Organic operating income margin 8.5 % 84 % 9.1 % 8.8 %
Public currency operating income change 2% 5%

Percentages in the above table do not necessarily sumdue to rounding.
Net Sales

Organic sales for Global Healthcare & Life Sciences was stable the second quarter and first six months of 2024 as growth in Life Sciences was
offset by modestly low er Healthcare sales.

At an operating segrent level, Healthcare organic sales decreased 3% in both the second quarter and first six nonths of 2024 reflecting
strategic low margin business exits. Life Sciences organic sales increased 4% and 3% in the second quarter and first six nonths of 2024,
respectively, reflecting improved underlying business nomentumthat offset soft near-termindustry demand.

Operating Income

Organic operating income and organic operating income margins both increased in the second quarter and first six months of 2024 for both our
Global Healthcare & Life Sciences segment.

Organic operating income margins increased 0.1 percentage points during the second quarter of 2024, as the 2.8 percentage point positive
impact fromstrong pricing overcarre the 2.8 percentage point inpacts fromtargeted investments in the business. Organic operating income
margins increased 0.3 percentage points during the first six nonths of 2024, as the 2.9 percentage point positive impact fromstrong pricing
overcane the 2.4 percentage point inpacts fromtargeted investrents in the business.




Global Pest Elimination

Second Quarter Ended Six Months Ended
June 30 June 30
2024 2023 2024 2023
Sales at fixed currency (millions) $297.1 $269.7 $563.9 $514.3
Sales at public currency (rillions) 295.7 269.0 561.8 5124
Organic sales change 9% 9%
Acquisitions and divestitures 1% =%
Fixed currency sales change 10 % 10 %
Foreign currency translation - % - %
Rublic currency sales change 10 % 10 %
Operating income at fixed currency (millions) $62.2 $524 $111.0 $96.9
Operating income at public currency (millions) 61.9 524 110.6 9.7
Fixed currency operating income change 19 % 15 %
Fixed currency operating incore margin 20.9 % 194 % 19.7 % 18.8 %
Organic operating income change 20 % 15 %
Organic operating income margin 213 % 194 % 19.9 % 18.8 %
Public currency operating income change 18 % 14 %

Percentages in the above table do not necessarily sumdue to rounding.
Net Sales

Organic sales for Global Pest Himination increased in the second quarter and first six months of 2024 driven by growth in food & beverage,
restaurants, and food retail.

Operating Income

Organic operating income and organic operating income margins increased for Gobal Pest Binination in both the second quarter and first six
nonths of 2024.

Organic operating income margins increased 1.9 percentage points during the second quarter of 2024, as the 4.9 percentage point positive

impact fromstrong pricing and higher volumes overcame the 3.9 percentage point inpact of investents in the business. Organic operating

income margins increased 1.1 percentage points during the first six months of 2024, as the 4.5 percentage point positive impact fromstrong
pricing and higher volummes overcame the 4.0 percentage point immpact of investrrents in the business.

Corporate
Consistent with our internal management reporting, Corporate amounts in the table on page 36 include sales to ChanpionX in accordance with
the transitional supply agreement entered into with the transaction post-separation, as discussed in Note 15, intangible asset anortization

specifically fromthe Nalco and Purolite transactions and special (gains) and charges that are not allocated to our reportable segnents. ltens
included within special (gains) and charges are shown in the table on page 32.
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FINANCIAL POSITION, CASH FLOWS AND LIQUIDITY

Financial Position

Total assets were $21.5 billion as of June 30, 2024, conpared to total assets of $21.8 billion as of Decerber 31, 2023.

Total liabilities were $13.2 billion as of June 30, 2024, conpared to total liabilities of $13.8 billion as of December 31, 2023. Total debt was $7.5
billion as of June 30, 2024 and $8.2 billion as of Decenber 31, 2023. See further discussion of our debt activity within the “Liquidity and Capital
Resources” section of this MDSA.

Qur net debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and anortization (“EBITDA”) is shown in the following table. EBITDA is a non-GAAP
measure discussed further in the “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” section of this MD&A.

The inputs to BBITDA reflect the trailing tw elve nonths of activity for the period presented:

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

(ratio)
Net debt to EBITDA 22 24
(rrllions)
Total debt $7,544.7 $8,181.8
Cash 384.0 919.5

Net debt $7,160.7 $7,262.3
Net income including noncontroling interest $1,731.8 $1,393.0
Provision for income taxes 361.5 362.5
Interest expense, net 295.1 296.7
Depreciation 622.3 616.7
Anrtization 307.4 306.9

EBIMDA $3,318.1 $2,975.8
Cash Flows
Operating Activities

Six Months Ended
June 30

(millions) 2024 2023 Change
Cash provided by operating activities $1,260.5 $771.6 $488.9

We continue to generate cash flow fromoperations, allowing us to fund our ongoing operations, acquisitions, investments in the business and
pension obligations along with returning cash to our shareholders through dividend payments and share repurchases. Cash provided by
operating activities increased $489 million in the first six months of 2024 conpared to the first six months of 2023, driven primarily by a $174
million net favorable change in working capital and $339 rrillion increase in net incorme. The cash flow inmpact fromw orking capital was primarily
driven by inprovement in accounts payable, partially offset by a seasonal increase in inventory.

Investing Activities
Six Months Ended
June 30
(millions) 2024 2023 Change
Cash used for investing activities ($445.4) ($463.5) $18.1

Cash used for investing activities is primerily inpacted by capital investrments in the business.

We continue to make capital investrents in the business, including merchandising equipment, manufacturing equipment and facilities. Total capital
expenditures were $398 nillion and $346 million in the first six months of 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Total cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired along with net cash received fromdispositions, during the first six months of 2024 and
2023, was $39 million and $105 million, respectively. Our acquisitions are discussed further in Note 4. We continue to target strategic business
acquisitions w hich corrplerrent our grow th strategy and expect to continue to make capital investments and acquisitions in the future to support
our long-termgrowth.
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Financing Activities

Six Months Ended
June 30
(millions) 2024 2023 Change
Cash used for financing activities ($1,335.7) ($322.2) ($1,013.5)

Qur cash flows fromfinancing activities primarily reflect the issuances and repayment of debt, conmmon stock repurchases, proceeds from
conmon stock issuances related to our equity incentive prograns and dividend payments.

We had net issuances of commercial paper and notes payable of $2 million in both the first six months of 2024 and 2023.

Shares are repurchased for the purpose of partially offsetting the dilutive effect of our equity conpensation plans, to manage our capital
structure and to efficiently return capital to shareholders. We reacquired a total of $519 nrillion and $11 million of shares in the first six months of
2024 and 2023, respectively. Cash proceeds and tax benefits fromstock option exercises provide a portion of the funding for repurchase
activity.

There was no long-termdebt issuance activity through the first six months of 2024 or 2023. We repaid $630 nillion of long-termdebt in the first
six months of 2024.

We paid dividends of $341 million and $309 million in the first six nmonths of 2024 and 2023, respectively.
Liquidity and Capital Resources

We currently expect to fund the cash requirements w hich are reasonably foreseeable for the next tw elve months, including scheduled debt
repaynments, new investrents in the business, share repurchases, dividend paynents, possible business acquisitions and pension and
postretirement contributions with cash fromoperating activities, and as needed, additional short-termand/or long-termborrowings. We continue
to expect our operating cash flow to remain strong.

As of June 30, 2024, we had $384 rrillion of cash and cash equivalents on hand, of which $241 million was held outside of the U.S. We will
continue to evaluate our cash position in light of future developments.

As of June 30, 2024, we have a $2.0 billion muitti-year credit facility w hich expires in April 2026. The credit facility has been established with a
diverse syndicate of banks and supports our U.S. and Euro conmrercial paper programs. The mexinumaggregate amount of commercial paper
that may be issued under our U.S. conmrercial paper programand our BEuro conmrercial paper programmay not exceed $2.0 billion. At the end of
the second quarter of both 2024 and 2023, w e had no outstanding conmrercial paper under our U.S. programnor our Euro program There were
no borrowings under our credit facility as of June 30, 2024 or 2023. As of June 30, 2024, both prograns were rated A-2 by Standard & Poor’s,
P-2 by Mbody’s and F-1 by Fitch.

There was no long-termdebt issuance activity through the first six months of 2024. We repaid $630 million of long-termdebt in the first six
nonths of 2024.

We are in conpliance with our debt covenants and other requirements of our credit agreements and indentures. We believe we have sufficient
borrowing capacity to meet our foreseeable operating activities, as needed.

The schedule of contractual obligations included in the Financial Position and Liquidity section of our Form10-K for the year ended Decerrber 31,
2023 disclosed total notes payable and long-termdebt due within one year of $630 million. As of June 30, 2024, the total notes payable and long-
termdebt due within one year was $6 million. We had no outstanding commercial paper under our U.S. programas of June 30, 2024 and as of
Decenber 31, 2023.

Qur gross liability for uncertain tax positions was $29 rrillion and $24 rrillion as of June 30, 2024 and Decerrber 31, 2023, respectively. We are

not able to reasonably estimate the amount by w hich the liability will increase or decrease over time; however, at this time, we do not expect
significant payments related to these obligations within the next year.
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GLOBAL ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT
Global Economies

Approximetely half of our sales are outside of the U.S. Our international operations subject us to changes in econorric conditions and foreign
currency exchange rates as well as political uncertainty in some countries which could inpact future operating results.

Argentina and Turkey are classified as highly inflationary econorries in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and the U.S. dollar is the functional
currency for our subsidiaries in Argentina and Turkey. During the first six months of 2024, sales in Argentina and Turkey represented less than
1% of our consolidated sales. Assets held in Argentina and Turkey at the end of the second quarter of 2024 represented less than 1% of our
consolidated assets.

In light of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and the sanctions against Russia by the United States and other countries, we have made the
determination that we will limit our Russian business to operations that are essential to life, providing minimal support for our healthcare, life
sciences, food and beverage and certain water businesses. We may further narrow our presence in Russia depending on future developrents.
During the first six nonths of 2024, our Russian and Ukraine operations represented approximately 1% of our 2024 consolidated net sales.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
For information on new accounting pronouncenents, refer to Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Staterrents.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to the second quarter of 2024, we formally conmmenced a restructuring plan to leverage our investrrents in technology and emerging
Al toals to transformthe way we work and deliver scalable operations through our global centers of excellence.

In July 2024, we entered into cross-currency swap derivative contracts with notional amounts of €200 million, €100 rrillion and €100 illion
maturing in 2028, 2028 and 2026, respectively. These cross-currency swap derivative contracts are designated as net investrrent hedges of
our Euro denominated exposures fromour investments in certain of its Euro denominated functional currency subsidiaries.

On August 1, 2024, we conpleted the sale of our global surgical solutions business pursuant to the definitive agreement dated April 27, 2024.
NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation” in tem2,
contains financial measures that have not been calculated in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (GAAP).
These non-GAAP measures include:

Fixed currency sales

Organic sales

Adjusted cost of sales

Adjusted gross margin

Fixed currency operating income

Fixed currency operating income margin
Adjusted operating income

Adjusted operating income margin
Adjusted fixed currency operating income
Adjusted fixed currency operating income margin
Organic operating income

Organic operating income margin

EBITDA

Adjusted tax rate

Adjusted net income attributable to Ecolab
Adjusted diluted BPS

We provide these measures as additional information regarding our operating results. We use these non-GAAP measures internally to evaluate
our performance and in meking financial and operational decisions, including with respect to incentive conpensation. We believe that our
presentation of these measures provides investors with greater transparency with respect to our results of operations and that these measures
are useful for period-to-period conparison of results.




Qur non-GAAP adjusted financial measures for cost of sales, gross margin and operating incorme exclude the inpact of special (gains) and
charges and our non-GAAP adjusted financial measures for tax rate, net income attributable to Ecolab and diluted earnings per share further
exclude the inmpact of discrete tax ites. We include items within special (gains) and charges and discrete tax itens that we believe can
significantly affect the period-over-period assessment of operating results and not necessarily reflect costs and/or income associated with
historical trends and future results. After tax special (gains) and charges are derived by applying the applicable local jurisdictional tax rate to the
corresponding pre-tax special (gains) and charges.

EBITDA is defined as the sumof net income including noncontrolling interest, provision for incorme taxes, net interest expense, depreciation and
anrtization. EBITDA is used in our net debt to EBITDA ratio, which we view as inportant indicators of the operational and financial health of our
organization.

We evaluate the performance of our international operations based on fixed currency rates of foreign exchange. Fixed currency anounts
included in this Form10-Q are based on translation into U.S. dollars at the fixed foreign currency exchange rates established by managenent at
the beginning of 2024. We also provide our segment results based on public currency rates for inforrmational purposes.

Qur reportable segments do not include the inpact of intangible asset anortization fromthe Nalco and Purdlite transactions or the inpact of
special (gains) and charges as these are not allocated to our reportable segments.

Qur non-GAAPfinancial measures for organic sales, organic operating income and organic operating income margin are at fixed currency and
exclude the inpact of special (gains) and charges, the results of our acquired businesses fromthe first tw elve months post acquisition and the
results of divested businesses fromthe twelve nmonths prior to divestiture. As part of the separation of ChanpionX in 2020, we entered into an
agreement with ChanrpionX to provide, receive or transfer certain products for a transitionary period. Transitionary period sales of product to
ChanpionX under this agreement are recorded in product and equipment sales in the Corporate segment along with the related cost of sales. The
remeining sales to CharrpionX are recorded in product and equipment sales in Gobal Industrial segment along with the related cost of sales.
These transactions are removed fromthe consolidated results as part of the calculation of the inpact of acquisitions and divestitures.

These non-GAAP measures are not in accordance with, or an alternative to U.S. GAAP, and may be different fromnon-GAAP measures used by
other conpanies. Investors should not rely on any single financial measure w hen evaluating our business. We recommend that investors view
these measures in conjunction with the U.S. GAAP measures included in this MD&A and we have provided reconciliations of reported U.S. GAAP
anounts to the non-GAAP anounts.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including “Managerrent’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in ftem
2, contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the FRrivate Securities Litigation ReformAct of 1995. These statements include our
business performance and prospects; expectations concerning timming, amount and type of restructuring costs and savings fromrestructuring
activities; Russian operations; working capital; capital investments, acquisitions and share repurchases; anortization expense; non-performance
of financial counterparties; payments and contributions to pension and postretirement health care benefit plans; the inpact of law suits, claims
and environmental metters; inpact of new accounting pronouncements and tax law's; cash flow's, borrowing capacity and funding of cash
requiremrents, including repayment of debt; payments related to uncertain tax positions; and inplementation of ERP systemupgrade.

Without limiting the foregoing, words or phrases such as “will likely result,” “are expected to,” “will continue,” “is anticipated,” “we believe,” “we
expect,” “estimate,” “project” (including the negative or variations thereof) or sinilar ternminology, generally identify forw ard-looking statements.
Forw ard-looking statements may also represent challenging goals for us. These statements, w hich represent our expectations or beliefs
concerning various future events, are based on current expectations that involve a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially fromthose of such forward-looking statements. In particular, the ultimate results of any restructuring or efficiency
initiative, integration and business improverrent actions, including cost synergies, depend on a nurber of factors, including the development of
final plans, the impact of local regulatory requirements regarding enployee terninations, the time necessary to develop and inplenment the
restructuring or efficiency initiative and other business inmproverrent initiatives and the level of success achieved through such actions in
improving conrpetitiveness, efficiency and effectiveness. We caution that undue reliance should not be placed on such forw ard-looking
statements, w hich speak only as of the date made.

Sone of the factors which could cause resullts to differ materially fromthose expressed in any forw ard-looking staterrents are set forth under
ftem 1A of our nost recent Form10-K and our other public filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), and include the
impact of econorric factors such as the worldwide econonry, interest rates, foreign currency risk, reduced sales and earnings in our
international operations resulting fromthe w eakening of local currencies versus the U.S. dollar, demand uncertainty, supply chain challenges and
inflation; the vitality of the markets we serve; exposure to global econorric, political and legal risks related to our international operations, including
geopolitical instability and the escalation of armed conflicts; our ability to successfully execute organizational change and management
transitions; information technology infrastructure failures or breaches in data security; difficulty in procuring raw materials or fluctuations in raw
material costs; the occurrence of severe public health outbreaks not limited to COVID-19; our ability to acquire conplemmentary businesses and to
effectively integrate such businesses; our ability to execute key business initiatives; our ability to successfully conpete with respect to value,
innovation and customer support; pressure on operations fromconsolidation of custorrers or vendors; restraints on pricing flexibility due to
contractual obligations and our ability to meet our contractual commitrrents; the costs and effects of conplying with law's and regulations,
including those relating to the environment, climate change




standards, and to the manufacture, storage, distribution, sale and use of our products, as well as to the conduct of our business generally,
including labor and errployment and anti-corruption; potential cherrical spill or release; our commitents, goals, targets, objectives and initiatives
related to sustainability; potential to incur significant tax liabilities or indermification liabilities relating to the separation and split-off of our
ChanrpionX business; the occurrence of litigation or clainms, including class action law suits; the loss or insolvency of a major customer or
distributor; repeated or prolonged government and/or business shutdow ns or similar events; acts of war or terrorisnm natural or man-made
disasters; water shortages; severe weather conditions; changes in tax laws and unanticipated tax liabilities; potential loss of deferred tax
assets; our indebtedness, and any failure to conply with covenants that apply to our indebtedness; potential losses arising fromthe impairment
of goodwill or other assets; and other uncertainties or risks reported fromtime to time in our reports to the SEC. There can be no assurances that
our earnings levels will meet investors’ expectations. Bxcept as may be required under applicable law, we do not undertake, and expressly
disclaim any duty to update our Forward-Looking Statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We use foreign currency forward contracts, interest rate swap agreements and foreign currency debt to manage risks associated with foreign
currency exchange rates, interest rates and net investrrents in our foreign operations. We do not hold derivative financial instruments of a
speculative nature or for trading purposes. For a nmore detailed discussion of derivative instruments, refer to Note 9, entitled “Derivatives and
Hedging Transactions”, of the consolidated financial statements located under Part |, tem 1 of this quarterly report on Form10-Q

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As of June 30, 2024, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Cfficer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures. Based upon that evaluation, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures are effective.

During the period April 1, 2024 through June 30, 2024 there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have meterially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

We are continuing our inplemmentation of our enterprise resource planning (“ERP’) systemupgrades, w hich are expected to occur in phases over
the next several years. These upgrades, w hich include supply chain and certain finance functions, are expected to improve the efficiency of
certain financial and related transactional processes. These upgrades of the ERP systens will affect the processes that constitute our internal
control over financial reporting and will require testing for effectiveness.




PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings
Note 17, entitled “Commitrents and Contingencies” located under Part |, ftem 1 of this Form 10-Qis incorporated herein by reference.

In accordance with 17 CFR § 229.103(c)(iii)(3), we have established a threshold of $1 million for reporting potential monetary sanctions relating
to administrative or judicial proceedings brought by a governmental authority under any Federal, State, or local provisions that have been enacted
or adopted regulating the discharge of materials into the environment or primarily for the purpose of protecting the environment. We have no such
proceedings exceeding this threshold to report.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In our report on Form 10-K for the year ended Decenber 31, 2023, filed with the Securities and Exchange Conrission on February 23, 2024, we
identify under ftem 1A inportant factors w hich could affect our financial performance and could cause our actual results for future periods to
differ materially fromour anticipated results or other expectations, including those expressed in any forw ard-looking staterrents made in this
Form10-Q See the section entitled Forw ard-Looking Staterrents located on page 45 of this Form10-Q We may also refer to such disclosure to
identify factors that may cause results to differ fromthose expressed in other forward-looking statements made in oral presentations, including
telephone conferences and/or webcasts open to the public.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Number of shares Maximum number of

Total purchased as part shares that may
number of  Average price of publicly yet be purchased
shares paid per announced plans under the plans
Period purchased()  share () orprograms @)  orprograms @)

April 1-30, 2024 725049 $  (225.2197) 725,049 11,358,662
May 1-31, 2024 529,649 (230.9934) 529,400 10,829,262
June 1-30, 2024 108,867 (236.1900) 108,867 10,720,395
Total 1,363565 $  (228.3383) 1,363,316 10,720,395

(1) Includes 249 shares reacquired fromenployees and/or directors as swaps for the cost of stock options, or shares surrendered to
satisfy minimumstatutory tax obligations under our stock incentive plans.

(2) Theaverage price paid per share includes brokerage comnissions associated with publicly announced plan purchases plus the value of
such other reacquired shares.

(3)  As announced on February 24, 2015, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to 20,000,000 conmron shares. As
announced on Novenrber 3, 2022, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional 10,000,000 shares. Subject to
market conditions, w e expect to repurchase all shares under these authorizations, for w hich no expiration date has been established, in
open merket or privately negotiated transactions, including pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 and accelerated share repurchase program

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

Not applicable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information
Rule 10b5-1 Plan Adoptions and Modifications

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits

Bxhibit No. Document Method of Filing
(a) The following docunents are filed as exhibits to this report:
(15.1) Letter regarding unaudited interim financial information. Filed herew ith electronically.
(31.1) Rule 13a - 14(a) CEO Certification. Filed herewith electronically.
(31.2) Rule 13a - 14(a) CFO Certification. Filed herewith electronically.
(32.1) Section 1350 CEO and CFO Certifications. Filed herew ith electronically.
(101.INS) Inline XBRL Instance Docurrent — the instance docurrent does not

appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are errbedded

within the Inline XBRL docurrent. Filed herew ith electronically.
(101.SCH) Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema. Filed herew ith electronically.
(101.CAL) Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase. Filed herew ith electronically.
(101.D5F) Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase. Filed herew ith electronically.
(101.LAB) Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase. Filed herew ith electronically.
(101.PRB) Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase. Filed herew ith electronically.
(104) Cover Page Interactive Data File. Formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in

Bxhibit 101.



https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/31462/000155837024010647/ecl-20240630xex15d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/31462/000155837024010647/ecl-20240630xex31d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/31462/000155837024010647/ecl-20240630xex31d2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/31462/000155837024010647/ecl-20240630xex32d1.htm

SIGNATURE

Rursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

EOOLAB INC.

Date: August 2, 2024 By: /s/ Jennifer J. Bradway
Jennifer J. Bradway
Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller
(duly authorized officer and
Chief Accounting Officer)
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